The University of Southern Mississippi The Aquila Digital Community

**Dissertations** 

Summer 7-30-2022

# USING NUDGES TO INCREASE ENGAGEMENT WITH SUICIDE PREVENTION RESOURCES IN AN ONLINE SAMPLE OF UNITED STATE MILITARY VETERANS

Brian W. Bauer University of Southern Mississippi

Follow this and additional works at: https://aquila.usm.edu/dissertations

Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Bauer, Brian W., "USING NUDGES TO INCREASE ENGAGEMENT WITH SUICIDE PREVENTION RESOURCES IN AN ONLINE SAMPLE OF UNITED STATE MILITARY VETERANS" (2022). *Dissertations*. 2015. https://aquila.usm.edu/dissertations/2015

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by The Aquila Digital Community. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of The Aquila Digital Community. For more information, please contact aquilastaff@usm.edu.

## USING NUDGES TO INCREASE ENGAGEMENT WITH SUICIDE PREVENTION RESOURCES IN AN ONLINE SAMPLE OF UNITED STATE MILITARY VETERANS

by

Brian Ward Bauer

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate School, the College of Education and Human Sciences and the School of Psychology at The University of Southern Mississippi in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Approved by:

Dr. Daniel W. Capron, Committee Chair Dr. Michael Anestis Dr. Craig Bryan Dr. Randolph Arnau COPYRIGHT BY

Brian Ward Bauer

2022

Published by the Graduate School



#### ABSTRACT

Suicide rates have continually increased from 1999 to 2019 in the United States, with populations such as military Veterans showing substantially higher suicide death and attempt rates than civilians. Behavioral economics researchers have demonstrated that people regularly make decisions that are not aligned with their own self-interests (i.e., irrational decisions). These irrational decisions often stem from humans having bounded rationality (i.e., limited computational power), which produce reliable cognitive biases that occur outside of people's awareness and influence the decisions they make. There are many important decisions leading up to a suicide attempt (e.g., whether to engage with suicide prevention resources), and it is likely that these same biases pervade suicide-relevant decisions. This study tests a behavioral economic intervention - nudges - as a potential way to increase engagement with suicide prevention resources in a sample of US military veterans (N = 457) using Amazon's Mechanical Turk. Results showed that overall, nudges were no more effective than control messages at increasing engagement with crisis resources. Only Social Norms were more effective than control messages and one other nudge group (using a Veteran suicide story). Further, findings indicated that participants were more likely to engage with crisis lines compared to safety plans. Exploratory analyses revealed that depression scores and higher delayed discounting scores were two correlates associated with crisis resource engagement overall. Limitations of this study included high data loss due to poor quality, suggesting that Amazon's Mechanical Turk may be an inappropriate platform for testing the effect of nudges on behavior. Future studies should consider using social media to test nudges so that researchers can more adequately test and refine messages in a naturalistic setting.

Keywords: nudges, cognitive biases, suicide, behavioral economics, military

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Special thanks to my mentor, Dr. Daniel Capron for all his support throughout this project. Thank you to my committee members, Dr. Michael Anestis, Dr. Craig Bryan, and Dr. Randolph Arnau for their thoughtful feedback and involvement in the project. I would also like to thank the Department of Defense Military Suicide Research Consortium for helping fund this project.

#### DEDICATION

I dedicate this to my parents, John and Debbie Bauer, my grandparents Harold Ward, Sheila Ward, Jan Swanson, and Harry Swanson, and my sisters, Chanda and Pamela Bauer. I would not be able to have done this without your sacrifices, hard work, and constant support. I also want to dedicate this to my nephew, Jamie, who inspires me by being the most joyful person on the planet. And of course, to my editor-in-chief, Kristy Larsen.

ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS iv
DEDICATION v
LIST OF TABLES ix
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS x
CHAPTER I – INTRODUCTION 1
Selected Theories of Decision Making
Brief Overview of Cognitive Biases and Heuristics
Evidence of Irrational Decision Making in Suicide Relevant Choice Selection
Summary of Argument 11
Nudges as a Behavioral Economic Intervention 11
Social norms nudges 14
Framing techniques
Potentially effective nudges for suicide prevention
Conclusion 18
Study Aims 19
Hypotheses
CHAPTER II – METHOD 22
Participants

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Interventions
Outcomes and Validity Checks
Crisis Lines
Safety Plans
Materials
Demographic Information
Self-Injurious Thoughts and Behaviors Interview-Short Form (SITBI-Short Form;
Nock, Holmberg, Photos, & Michel, 2007)25
Stigma of Suicide Scale – Short Form (SOSS-SF; Batterham Calear, & Christensen,
2013)
Suicide Behaviors Questionnaire-Revised (SBQ-R; Osman et al., 2001)
Inventory of Depression and Anxiety Symptoms-II (IDAS-II; Watson et al., 2012)26
The Depression Severity Index – Suicide Subscale (DSI-SS; Metalsky & Joiner,
1997)
Monetary Choice Questionnaire (MQC; Kirby & Marakovic, 1996) 27
Adult Decision-Making Competence (A-DMC; Bruine de Bruin et al., 2007) 27
Procedures
CHAPTER III - RESULTS
Preliminary Analyses
Data Screening

Data Analytic Plan	30
Primary Analyses	31
Chi-square analyses testing engagement with a crisis line by nudge group	32
Chi-square analyses testing engagement with a safety plan by nudge group	32
Chi-square analysis testing nudge effectiveness on engagement overall	33
Exploratory Analyses	33
Chi-square analysis testing differences between nudge conditions	33
Chi-square analysis testing crisis resource and rate of engagement	33
Chi-square analyses testing nudge effectiveness by crisis outcome	33
Logistic regression testing moderating effects of study variables on engagement 3	34
CHAPTER IV – DISCUSSION	35
Limitations and Future Directions4	1
Conclusion	13
APPENDIX A – TABLES AND FIGURES 4	15
APPENDIX B –IRB Approval Letter 6	51
REFERENCES	52

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Demographics	45
Table 2. Military Demographics	47
Table 3. Correlations, means, standard deviations, and rages for study variables	49
Table 4. Logistic and multinomial logistic regression models	50

## LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure 1: Participant Flow Chart	51
Figure 2. Psychological Numbing/Collapse of Compassion Conditions	52
Figure 3. Safety Plan Instructions and Validity Check	53
Figure 4. Instructional Manipulation Check 5	54
Figure 5. Prize reorder – bot screener	55
Figure 6. Flow of participants through study5	56
Figure 7. Low-quality data examination5	57
Figure 8. Chart and table for crisis line comparisons5	58
Figure 9. Chart and table for safety plan comparisons	59
Figure 10. Comparisons between different nudge conditions	50

#### CHAPTER I – INTRODUCTION

Suicide is the tenth leading cause of death worldwide claiming over 800,000 lives each year (Naghavi et al., 2017). In the United States (US), during 2018 alone, suicide was responsible for over 48,000 deaths (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2020). This figure does not take into account the estimated 1.4 million Americans who attempt suicide (CDC, 2020), or the 10.6 million Americans who experience suicidal ideation (Drapeau & McIntosh, 2018) each year. Further, suicide deaths and attempts can create an estimated national cost of up to \$93.5 billion during a single year (Shepard, Gurewich, Lwin, Reed, & Silverman, 2016). A recent meta-analysis in the field of suicide research found that the past 50 years of research has been largely unproductive in improving our understanding of why people die by suicide as well as predicting who will attempt or die by suicide (Franklin et al., 2017). Despite a concerted effort from policymakers, researchers, healthcare systems, and other organizations, the US suicide rate has increased substantially over the past 15 years (Gibbons, Hur, & Mann, 2017). Furthermore, suicide research is underfunded relative to other leading causes of death. These facts indicate a dire need for novel, time and cost-effective strategies to help decrease the rate of suicide.

US military Veterans are one group especially at risk for suicide. Suicide rates for US Veterans are over double that of the US civilian population rate (30.1/100,000 vs. 14.2/100,000; Department of Veteran Affairs, 2016; CDC, 2020) and certain Veteran subgroups have suicide rates that are triple the US civilian rate (i.e., Veterans ages 18-34, 45/100,000; Department of Veteran Affairs, 2016). Military suicide has been deemed a national priority under executive order (Department of Defense, Department of Veterans Affairs, Department of Health and Human Services, & Department of Education, 2013) with the Department of Defense funding over 900 suicide-related initiatives - including prevention, outreach, treatment interventions, and general suicide-related research (Brewin, 2013). Surprisingly, military-specific experiences (e.g., number of deployments) do not appear to be drivers of the elevated suicide rates in military and Veteran populations (Reger et al., 2015; Ursano et al., 2016), suggesting that both US civilian and Veteran populations may benefit from similar treatment strategies. Given the low-base rates of suicidal behaviors in the US civilian population, the US Veteran population may be an ideal group for piloting novel interventions for suicide prevention.

Because rates of suicide death continue to rise despite significant preventative efforts, it is worthwhile to expand current interventions and incorporate strategies that have been successful in reducing harmful human behavior (and promoting desired behaviors) from other fields of science. The following argument provides an overview of two major economic theories (i.e., neoclassical economics, behavioral economics) and outlines how knowledge of such theories may be helpful for understanding human behavior and choice selection in the context of suicide. By understanding human decision making through the lens of economic theory, we may then apply the effective interventions developed from those theories (e.g., behavioral economics).

#### Selected Theories of Decision Making

Individuals make decisions that occur both distally (e.g., "How should I store my firearm?") and proximally to a suicide attempt (e.g., "Should I reach out for help?" "Would I be better off dead?") that can impact their suicide risk; therefore, understanding how people make decisions is an important aspect of suicide research. Theories from the field of economics may provide crucial insight into how people make decisions.

Neoclassical economics has been the dominant theory for understanding human decision making and behavior (Davis, 2006), and posits that humans are unemotional, calculating, economical maximizers with unbounded rationality, willpower, and selfishness that enables them to behave in ways that maximize their long-term self-declared goals (Berg & Gigerenzer, 2010). This framework argues that people only make irrational decisions due to having imperfect or incomplete information (Bernoulli, 2011; Friedman & Savage, 1948), However, decades of research from cognitive psychology, social psychology, and economic literature indicates that people regularly depart from perfect rationality, and in fact, people can be reliably poor at making decisions that are in their own self-declared best interests (Knoll, 2010; Hilbert, 2012; Kahneman & Tversky, 1979; Shapiro, 1994; Stanovich, West, & Tokplak, 2013; Tversky & Kahneman, 1974; Wilson & Gilbert, 2003).

Competing with the neoclassical model, behavioral economics merges behavioral science with economic principles (Camerer, Loewenstein, & Rabin, 2004) and embraces the fact that people make decisions that are not perfectly rational. Behavioral economics hypothesizes that irrational choices stem from humans having bounded rationality; that is, organisms do not have unlimited time, computational power, and knowledge to make perfectly rational decisions (Simon, 1972). Thus, people rely on mental shortcuts (e.g., cognitive biases, cognitive heuristics) to ameliorate information gaps and form beliefs about probabilities of uncertain events, and to qualify the values of uncertain quantities (Tversky & Kahneman, 1974).

3

#### Brief Overview of Cognitive Biases and Heuristics

The mental shortcuts (heuristics) people employ (often outside of awareness) to make decisions when perfect information is unavailable are often useful (Gigerenzer, Hertwig, & Pachur, 2011; Gigerenzer & Selten, 2002), but when misapplied, can lead to reliably biased beliefs, predictions, and decisions (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979). To illustrate this concept, Tversky and Kahneman (1974) provided the example of people estimating the size and distance of objects using their visual senses without complete information (i.e., the numerical measurements for distance and size of an object). They note that an object's distance is often estimated by its clarity - whereby the sharper the object appears, the closer it appears to be. More often than not, this approach works well for humans and is largely an accurate and helpful heuristic (i.e., shortcut) to ascertain size and distance when precise measurement data are unavailable. However, an overreliance or misapplication of this rule can lead to systematic (i.e., nonrandom) errors in estimating distance, such as when visibility is poor and objects appear blurred, and have disastrous results (e.g., shipwrecks). The visual and information processes occurring outside of awareness in this example is referred to as a cognitive heuristic, and the *outcome* of these processes refers to the cognitive bias. Cognitive biases can thus interfere with rational choice by distorting perceptions, disrupting probabilistic inferences, and/or creating illogical interpretations (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979; Tversky & Kahneman, 1974; Tversky & Kahneman, 1981). Important for suicide research, biases in decision making become more prevalent when choices involve delayed and/or uncertain outcomes (Johnson & Bickel, 2002; Tversky & Kahneman, 1974), when decisions are made during

highly emotional times (Tversky & Kahneman, 1992), and/or when decisions are novel (Wilson & Gilbert, 2003).

Evidence of Irrational Decision Making in Suicide Relevant Choice Selection There is evidence indicating that people are both able and likely to make irrational, biased decisions. Cognitive biases appear to be - at least in part - due to an overreliance on cognitive heuristics when complete information is unavailable, with cognitive heuristics stemming from humans possessing bounded rationality. Given that humans are universally endowed with bounded rationality, it is likely that these mental errors are also disrupting rational choice-making within the context of decisions related to suicide. Furthermore, given that suicide-relevant decisions are novel, involve delayed outcomes, incomplete information, and can take place during highly emotional periods (e.g., suicidal crises), cognitive heuristics may be used more often, thereby leading to more biased and irrational actions.

The extant literature on suicide (e.g., means safety, qualitative accounts, rates of suicide death after a suicide attempt) suggests that the decision to die by suicide is predominately not the choice that yields maximial long-term subjective utility (i.e., rational). Qualitative reports of suicide attempt survivors recounting their attempt reveal that attempt survivors often recall realizing that had made a mistake moments after initiating their attempt (Godlasky & Dastagir, 2018). In addition, there is robust evidence rejecting the common myth that individuals who want to die by suicide eventually will (Joiner, 2010). In several large samples of suicide attempters, approximately 90% of attempters did not go on to die by suicide, but instead died by other causes later in life (Owens, Horrocks, & House, 2002; Runeson et al., 2016; Seiden, 1978; Tidelmalm et al.,

5

2008). Furthermore, in a longitudinal study following previous attempters, approximately 75% of individuals who attempted suicide did not go on to make another attempt (Owens, Horrocks, & House, 2002; Seiden, 1978). An emerging line of research also shows that when lethal means (e.g., firearms, toxic chemicals) are made less available or more difficult to access, overall suicide rates decrease (Anestis & Anestis, 2015; Beautrais, Fergusson, & Horwood, 2006; Leeraars, Moksony, Lester, & Wenckstern, 2003; Lubin et al., 2010; Loftin, McDowall, Wiersema, & Cottey, 1991; Nodentoft, Qin, Helweg-Larsen, & Juel, 2006). Importantly, the overwhelming majority of people do not substitute with other suicide methods (Amos, Appleby, & Kiernan, 2001; Daigle, 2005). That is, if a dangerous method is made less available, the rates of suicide death lower (Amos, Appleby, & Kiernan, 2001; Daigle, 2005). If it were true that most people who wanted to kill themselves eventually will, or if suicide brought maximal subjective utility, it is more likely that the field would see higher rates of means substitution and lower survivor rates. Instead, the combination of these findings suggest that people retrospectively find greater utility in continuing to live their life after a suicidal crisis has ended, compared to the prospect of ending their life (i.e., irrational).

The possibility that many suicides deaths may qualify as irrational is further highlighted by countries that incorporate decision-making procedures that are more likely to produce rational choice selections. For example, countries that allow applications for euthanasia due to psychiatric illnesses alone (e.g., Netherlands; Kim, De Vries, & Peteet, 2016; Regional Euthanasia Review Committees [RERC], 2014) mandate several separate requests from the patient (usually distanced by weeks to months) in different variations (e.g., verbal, written) with evidence of consensus for adequate cognitive capacity and a poor prognosis from several independent health professionals (Pereira, 2011). Yet, even when the decision to die is made available through this process, there are far less suicide deaths that occur by euthanasia compared to suicide deaths that happen without such procedures (Kim, De Vriest, & Peteet, 2016; RERC, 2014; World Health Organization [WHO], 2018). These figures indicate that when individuals are forced to wait long periods and garner feedback from several individuals regarding their desire to die, only a small portion of people die by suicide. In sum, if suicide was the choice that truly maximized subjective utility, there would likely be higher rates of death by medically-assisted suicide.

Distal decisions relevant for suicide may also heavily rely on heuristics and lead to biased, irrational decisions. Choices that occur further out from an attempt before people experience a suicidal crisis (or even suicidal thoughts) can affect later suicide risk, such as how individuals choose to store their firearm(s) as well as if they choose to learn coping skills. For example, people tend to overestimate the probability that bad events will happen to other people and underestimate the probability that those same bad events will happen to them (optimism bias; Sharot, 2011). Biases of this nature may be problematic because it could suggest that even when individuals are presented with accurate information from reliable and trusted sources on firearm storage or coping skills, they may not engage with those resources or change their personal practices if the information is targeting the individual – because they believe that it will not apply to them. This may be particularly important when considering suicide risk over time – that is, with individuals who are currently at low risk, but will (unknowingly) have later increased suicide risk.

7

The decision-making processes proximal to a suicide attempt appear markedly different from the processes involved in other major life decisions, and may foster increased vulnerability for relying on heuristics, which ultimately leads to biased decisions. Most notably, although people may have increased suicide risk (e.g., suicidal ideation) for several years, the *actual* decision to attempt suicide tends to occur quickly (Millner, Lee, and Nock, 2017; Simon et al., 2001; Williams, Davidson, & Montgonmery, 1980); often within an hour, and many (25-40%) occurring within a five-minute period prior to initiating the attempt (Millner, Lee, and Nock, 2017; Simon et al., 2001; Williams, Davidson, & Montgonmery, 1980). Making decisions quickly, where both risk and prospects are uncertain, is associated with the activation and employment of implicit cognitive systems that rely more heavily on heuristics and automatic processes (Kahneman, 2011; Stanovich & West, 2000). Thus, suicide-relevant decisions made proximal to an attempt may be prone to utilizing cognitive heuristics, thereby increasing the likelihood of biased choice selection.

Another important factor to consider is that many decisions proximal to a suicide attempt are made during highly emotional times and often after a stressor has occurred (e.g., job loss, relationship loss; Hedegaard, Curtin, & Warner, 2018; Dempsey et al., 2018). Significant psychological pain is a necessary – but not sufficient - condition cited within nearly all classical and modern theories of suicide (Baumeister, 1990; Klonsky & May, 2015; O'Connor, 2011; Shneidman, 1993; Van Orden et al., 2010). Due to the accumulating research on phenomena occurring proximal to an attempt, two new diagnostic entities have been proposed (i.e., Acute Suicidal Affective Disturbance; Tucker et al., 2016; Suicidal Crisis Syndrome; Galynker et al., 2017) that are centrally

8

defined by an acute, pre-suicidal state of limited duration that involves significant emotional, cognitive, and physiological arousal and dysregulation (Galynker et al., 2017; Tucker et al., 2016, Stanley et al., 2016; Yaseen et al., 2018). Importantly, significant elevations in emotion can interfere with decision-making processes (Brosch, Scherer, Grandjean, & Sander, 2013) especially when outcomes are delayed (Wilson & Gilbert, 2003). In particular, researchers have found that individuals use affect to guide decision making - with affect operating as currency/utility (e.g., reward, punishment) and a motivator (Mellers & McGraw, 2001; Peters, Västfjäll, Garling, & Slovic, 2006). For example, during highly emotional situations such as a suicidal crisis, individuals may inaccurately predict how they will feel in the future ("I will never feel better") due to contamination from their current emotional state (DeSteno, Petty, Wegenery, & Rucker, 2000). Or, they may focus only on the present hardship and emotion and neglect future positive events (focalism; Wilson, Wheatley, Meyers, Gilbert, & Axsom, 2000), and/or inaccurately forecast future emotion because they do not have prior experience with decisions of this nature (i.e., novel decision-making; Wilson & Gilbert, 2005). Because suicidal crises are characterized by a marked increase in emotional distress, such periods likely increase the probability of making decision-making errors that lead to inaccurate, biased decisions.

There is also evidence that deficits in decision-making abilities are associated with suicidal behaviors, further suggesting that decision making may be an important factor in understanding why people die by suicide. People with past suicide attempts show deficits in problem-solving/decision-making tasks (Dombrovski & Hallquist, 2017) - as well as higher rates of risky behaviors (e.g., addiction, gambling; Vijayakumar,

Kumar, & Vijayakumar, 2011; Wong, Cheung, Conner, Conwell, & Yip, 2010) related to irrational decision making. Individuals who have previously attempted suicide tend to make poor decisions during laboratory-based decision-making tasks compared to controls (e.g., Iowa Gambling Task, Cambridge Gambling Task; Jollant et al., 2005; Jollant et al., 2010; Richard-Devantory, Berlim, & Jollant, 2014) by disregarding crucial information (e.g., probabilities, decision-relevant information) and/or feedback (Ackerman et al., 2015; Clark et al., 2011; Dombrovski et al., 2010). These findings are hypothesized to be, in part, due to the presence of emotional dysfunction (Jollant et al., 2005). Furthermore, these decision-making deficits are reflected in the disruption of expected value signals in certain regions of the brain (e.g., vmPFC; Dombrovski et al., 2013) and are similar to those found in patients with limited cognitive capacity or impaired decision-making (e.g., dementia, Deakin et al., 2004). Studies have also found that individuals who have a history of suicidal behaviors show decreased activation in the lateral orbitofrontal cortex when making risky choices under uncertainty (Jollant et al., 2010). Such findings add credence to the notion that individuals with a history of suicidal behaviors may be neurocognitively vulnerable to disadvantageous decision making (Jollant et al., 2011). Lastly, research examining the relationship between cognitive abilities in domains related to accurate decision making (e.g., intelligence, executive functioning, memory, attention) show stable (albeit modest) effects in their ability to discern individuals with a history of suicidal ideation from those with previous suicide attempts (Saffer & Klonsky, 2018; Szanto, 2017). In sum, decision-making research indicates that factors related to impaired decision making likely create additional vulnerabilities for enacting a lethal or near-lethal

suicide attempt when a person enters a suicidal crisis and/or creates a higher likelihood of making suboptimal decisions throughout the lifetime that leads to worse outcomes.

#### Summary of Argument

The aforementioned argument and evidence indicates that decisions related to suicide (both distally and proximally) may be susceptible to heuristics commonly found across human choice selection that ultimately increases the risk of biased, irrational decision making. Countless studies have found evidence that runs counter to the neoclassical economic position for explaining human behavior (i.e., evidence suggesting that that humans are in fact not maximal rationalizers who always perform actions aligned with their long-term subjective utility). Further, neoclassical theory appears to offer no utility for the problem of suicide. Namely, in the neoclassical view, individuals who die by suicide have acted with perfect rationality. A behavioral economic view of suicide may help explain irrational decision making and behaviors by positing that people will act irrationally due to bounded rationality. By taking such propositions into account, behavioral economics thereby offers explanations for why suboptimal decision making may exist in the context of suicide (i.e., an overreliance on heuristics which leads to biased, irrational choice selection) and most importantly, provide specific targets for interventions.

#### Nudges as a Behavioral Economic Intervention

By taking cognitive errors and irrationality into account when attempting to explain human decision-making and behaviors, behavioral economics has discovered and implemented interventions that anticipate and manipulate cognitive biases to influence people towards making decisions that align with their own self-interests. "Nudges" are

the most widely studied and implemented behavioral economic intervention. Nudges are small alterations within a decision-making environment that attract an individual's attention and increase the probability of the individual performing a desired behavior, without changing incentives (i.e., rewards or punishments) or limiting choice (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008). Nudges are based on the notion that people should be free to make decisions that are in their own self-declared interests, and in turn helps people select the choices they would make if they had perfect information (i.e., libertarian paternalism; Thaler & Sunstein, 2008). Nudges differ from de-biasing interventions (an attempt to educate an individual about biases to reduce their existence) and are perhaps more effective because nudges often go unnoticed by the individual (Bruns, Kantorowicz-Reznichenko, Klement, Jonsson, & Rahali, 2018). Although several areas of study (e.g., cognitive psychology, economics, social psychology) have found stable cognitive biases, people still have difficulty recognizing biases within themselves (though they can often recognize the impact of these cognitive errors on *others*' judgments; Pronin, Lin, & Ross, 2002). Despite occurring outside of conscious awareness, nudges are transparent and most often take the form of providing additional information or making behaviors easier to accomplish (Sunstein, 2018).

Nudges have proven to be effective interventions for increasing desirable behaviors in several different areas such as retirement savings (Carroll et al., 2009), college enrollment (Bettinger et al., 2012), energy conservation (Allcott, 2011), and influenza vaccinations (Milkman et al., 2011). Several governments (e.g., US, United Kingdom) have created "nudge units" due to the cost-benefit ratio of nudge interventions (Benartzi et al., 2017; Carroll et al., 2009; Duflo et al., 2007; (Duflo & Saez, 2003; Duflo et al., 2006). Scalable and cost-effective interventions are sorely needed in suicide prevention, as suicide rates continue to rise (Hedegaard, Curtin, & Warner, 2018) and the field of suicide research remains underfunded compared to other leading causes of death (Godlasky & Dastagir, 2018). Although nudges have been abundantly implemented in economic and public health sectors, very few areas of mental health have used nudges. In the past, mental health studies have mainly used nudges to help curb college drinking (Perkins, 2002) and increase enrollment in behavioral health interventions (Albarracin, Durantini, Earl, Gunnoe, & Leeper, 2008; Albarracin, Wilson, Durantini, Sunderrajan, & Livingood, 2016; Wilson, Durantini, Albarracin, Crause, & Albarracin, 2013). Due to the substantial evidence supporting the effectiveness of nudges, using well-studied nudges in the context of suicide prevention may help individuals make choices that are in alignment with their own utility.

Thus far, initial evidence indicates that individuals display similar systematic deviations from rationality in the context of decisions relevant to suicide and can reliably be influenced towards desired behaviors by using nudges (e.g., engaging with suicide prevention resources; Bauer & Capron, 2019; Bauer, Tucker, & Capron, 2019; Jaroszewski et al., 2019). Suicide prevention organizations such as the National Strategy for Suicide Prevention (NSSS) and Suicide Prevention Resource Center (SPRC), as well as military organizations, have called for peer-support interventions to play an increased role in suicide prevention efforts (Reed, 2013). In addition, suicide prevention faces unique challenges such as low treatment seeking rates (Luoma, Martin, Pearson, 2002) and difficulty disseminating evidenced-based practices and skills to the public (King et al., 2015). Using well-known nudges could be helpful in supporting these ongoing

initiatives and overcoming several challenges in suicide prevention work. However, more evidence is needed to validate the utility of nudges this field, how best to use nudges in the context of suicide prevention, and how to optimize their effectiveness.

#### Social norms nudges

One well-known nudge is using social norm techniques. Social norms can be divided into injunctive and descriptive norms. Injunctive norms are what the individual perceives others think they *ought* or *should* do, and descriptive norms are what other people actually do (Rivis & Sheeeran, 2003). According to one influential theory for predicting health and social behaviors – the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB; Ajzen, 1991) - attitudes, social norms, intentions, and perceived behavioral control make up a sizeable portion of the variance in predicting behaviors. Norm results from meta-analytic work shows that attitudes and subjective norms (what the individual perceives others think they *ought* or *should* do) predict approximately 33 to 50 percent of intention, where intentions represent 19 to 38 percent of variance in prospective behavior studies (Azjezn, 1991; Armitage & Conner, 2001; Sheeran & Orbell, 2001). Further, a meta-analysis on descriptive norms and subjective norms showed significant, discrete relationships with attitudes, behavioral control, and intentions, which ultimately increased the variance explained in behavior above and beyond other TPB variables (i.e., behavioral control, intentions, attitudes; Rivis & Sheeran, 2003).

Social norms have been used to help correct misinformation to influence people's attitudes and promote changes in their behaviors (Borsari & Carey, 2003; Cialdini, 2003; Reid & Aike, 2013). Social norms are thought to have a powerful impact on attitudes and behaviors because humans have a strong desire to be liked by others (Cialdini &

Goldstein, 2004). Thus, individuals often strive to not deviate too far from how others act, or what others perceive to be appropriate. This is further evidenced by long lines of research conducted on group conformity (Asch, 1951), social comparison processes (Festinger, 1954), and belief acquisition/formation of reference group norms (Newcomb, 1943). Social norms have been shown to predict behavior such as drinking patterns among fraternity and sorority members, such that those who perceive their peers to be drinking more (descriptive norm) and perceive greater group acceptability around drinking (injunctive norm) predict baseline and future drinking behavior (Larimer, Turner, Mallett, & Geisner, 2004). In suicide research, one correlational study found that people holding elevated attempt and ideation descriptive norms was associated with higher rates of suicidal thoughts and behaviors among adolescents (Reyes-Portillo, Lake, Kleinman, & Gould, 2018). These results are similar to those found in alcohol studies, such that people who hold exaggerated views regarding the frequency of such actions/behaviors are more likely to enact them. Because displaying social norms nudges has been shown to impact future behaviors (Perkins, 2002), it is plausible that using social norms could increase help-seeking behaviors for suicidal thoughts and behaviors. Recently, a study by Bauer, Tucker, and Capron (2019) found that presenting social norms nudges in a sample of college undergraduates increased engagement with an online treatment intervention by 164%. However, limitations of that study include no information on suicide-related correlates (e.g., current/past suicide risk) and only sampled the general population. These findings provide initial evidence that leveraging people's desire to not deviate too far from what others perceive to be appropriate (Cialdini & Goldstein, 2004) and the tendency for people to overweigh attitudes/opinions held by the

majority (Bond & Smith, 1996) may be a useful tool in increasing treatment-seeking behavior and providing suicide prevention materials.

#### Framing techniques

Framing manipulations are used to highlight either positive or negative aspects of an option, which ultimately impacts the attractiveness of that option to the individual (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979). Framing techniques have been effectively implemented as a nudge in numerous different studies involving healthcare (O'Connor, 1989), tax compliance (Hasseldine, Hite, James & Toumi, 2007), and work performance (Hossain & List, 2012). In a classic example by Kahneman and Tversky (1984), the researchers posed two choices to two different groups, with the only difference being whether the outcomes were stated as positives or negatives (percentages of participants [N = 155] are in parentheses):

"Imagine that the U.S. is preparing for the outbreak of an unusual Asian disease, which is expected to kill 600 people. Two alternative programs to combat the disease have been proposed. Assume that the exact scientific estimates of the consequences of the programs are as follows:

#### Group 1

1) If Program A is adopted, 200 people will be saved (72%)

2) If Program B is adopted, there is a one-third probability that 600 people will be saved and a two-thirds probability that no one will be saved. (28%)

#### Group 2

1) If Program C is adopted, 400 people will die (22%)

2) If Program B is adopted, there is a one-third probability that nobody will die, and a two-thirds probability that 600 people will die. (78%)" (p. 343)

Although these options do not differ in probability, participants chose differently based on the presentation of these probabilities. In an effort to employ framing techniques in suicide prevention work, Bauer and colleagues (2019) asked one group of participants if they would be interested in learning more about how to help *themselves* if they were to go through a suicidal crisis by clicking on a link, whereas the other group was given the same link but asked if they would be willing to learn more about how to help others if they were to go through a suicidal crisis. The authors found that the *others* group was 167% more likely to click on a link that provided information about coping skills. Bauer et al. (2019) hypothesized that this framing technique may have helped circumvent the optimism bias (i.e., the tendency for humans to underrate their chances of risk for themselves; Sharot, 2011) and/or reduced stigmatization. Although people were learning the same skills (i.e., outcomes) in both conditions, when the intention of helping others was highlighted, it increased the probability that an individual would click on the resource overall. Similarly, at least two studies have found that using framing strategies (i.e., focusing on temporariness of means removal) or language substitution (i.e., "means safety" instead of "means restriction") can increase a person's willingness to engage in means safety counseling (e.g., temporarily removing access to lethal means; Stanley, 2019; Stanley, Hom, Rogers, Anestis, & Joiner, 2017). Thus, simple alterations within the choice environment, such as framing strategies, appear to be a cost and time-effective strategy for producing small positive effects.

Potentially effective nudges for suicide prevention

Psychological numbing (i.e., collapse of compassion, compassion fade) is one bias that may be valuable for better understanding decisions in the context of suicide prevention research. Psychological numbing is the diminishing sensitivity in valuing lifesaving interventions when there is an increasing number of lives at risk, and can been represented by a collapse of compassion model. A normative model of valuing human life assumes that people should care more about two people compared to one, three people compared to two, and that people would highly value large numbers (e.g., 48,000 deaths). However, research shows that the valuation of life-saving decreases, rather than increases, when there is a large number of lives at stake (Slavic et al., 1997). It has been postulated that this effect occurs because people's valuation of lives are strongly associated with affective feelings (Vastfjall, Slovic, Mayorga, & Peters, 2014). In addition, people are much more willing to aid identified individuals (i.e., personalized) compared to statistical victims (Kogus & Ritov, 2005; Small, Loewenstain, & Slovic, 2007). Based on these findings, a personal story alongside details of a single individual's suicide death may be more influential on a person's decision to engage with suicide prevention resources compared to learning about the scope of the suicide problem (i.e., statistics).

#### Conclusion

Nudges have been a highly effective, scalable, and economical intervention throughout several areas of industry, academia, and government (Halpern, 2015; Sunstein, 2014; Whitehead et al., 2017), showing that small changes can have large impacts on society (Agarwal et al., 2013). In addition to being time and cost-effective (Benartzi et al., 2017), nudges are relatively easy to understand, interpret, and communicate across disciplines. Further, results from studies using nudges often make cost-benefit analyses readily available for others to interpret, which may be helpful for policymakers and grant-funding bodies. As an example of the aforementioned points, the combination of three recent nudge experiments cost less than \$1,000 and resulted in approximately 100 recent suicide ideators filling out a safety plan, 100 suicide ideators putting the Suicide Prevention Lifeline into their phones, 90 people receiving education on coping skills, 80 people entering a local crisis line into their phone, and 20 individuals increasing their means safety practices (e.g., separated ammunition from firearm storage; Bauer & Capron, 2019). Given the many decisions leading up to a suicide attempt, and the data stating that suicidal crises are relatively brief, small, scalable options such as nudges could be beneficial for increasing rational decision making processes and behaviors in the context of suicide.

#### Study Aims

The current study has four major aims. The first aim is to replicate past studies involving nudges in distal decisions that could potentially impact a future suicide attempt in a population with an elevated suicide rate - US Veterans. Second, although nudges have been found to be effective in certain aspects of suicide prevention, it is unknown which nudges are *most* effective. Testing popular nudges together against the same outcome could help providers, organizations (e.g., military), and other researchers identify the most effective nudges. The current study will test three popular nudges (i.e., social norm rates, framing techniques, and psychological numbing) to determine which is the most influential across two outcomes (e.g., engaging with suicide prevention materials). Third, it is unknown if nudges work similarly across outcomes. Therefore, two unique outcomes that are in line with current calls to action in suicide prevention from organizations such as the National Strategy for Suicide Prevention (NSSS) and Suicide Prevention Resource Center (SPRC) (Reed, 2013) will be used. Namely, educating peers about prevention (e.g., learning how to fill out a safety plan) and having access to crisis resources (e.g., local crisis line numbers). Safety plans and access to crisis lines have been associated with a reduction in suicide risk (Gould et al., 2018; Stanley & Brown, 2012). Each outcome has wide-applicability across Veteran populations and is behaviorally observable; See Figure 1 for study flow chart. Fourth, given the dearth of research focused on nudges and suicide (and mental health/clinical psychology more broadly), the current study will perform exploratory analyses regarding potential correlates (e.g., demographics, stigma towards suicide) that may be impacting the probability of someone putting a crisis line number into their phone or filling out a safety plan.

#### Hypotheses

 Participants who receive a social norms nudge will be more likely to enter a crisis line number into their phones significantly than those who do not receive a nudge.
Participants who receive a framing nudge aimed at helping *others* will enter a crisis line number into their phones significantly more than those who did not receive a nudge.

2b. Participants who receive a framing nudge aimed at helping *others* will be more likely to enter a crisis line number into their phones significantly than those who receive wording to help *themselves*.

3a. Participants who receive a psychological numbing nudge with a Veteran's story will be more likely to enter a crisis line number into their phones significantly than those who do not receive a nudge.

3b. Participants who receive a psychological numbing nudge with a Veteran's story will be more likely to enter a crisis line number into their phones significantly than those who are given a message regarding Veteran data.

4. Participants who receive a social norms nudge will be more likely to complete a safety plan than those who do not receive a nudge.

5a. Participants who receive a framing nudge aimed at helping *others* will be more likely to complete a safety plan than those who do not receive a nudge.

5b. Participants who receive a framing nudge aimed at helping *others* will be more likely to complete a safety plan than those who receive wording to help *themselves*. 6a. Participants who receive a psychological numbing nudge with a Veteran's story will be more likely to complete a safety plan than those who do not receive a nudge. 6b. Participants who receive a psychological numbing nudge with a Veteran's story will be more likely to complete a safety plan than those who are given a message regarding Veteran data.

#### CHAPTER II – METHOD

#### Participants

Participants were recruited using Amazon's Mechanical Turk (MTurk) and the data was recorded using Qualtrics' Research Services and Project Management systems for each unique outcome (i.e., crisis line input, safety plan). Participants were US military Veterans (as listed by Mturk as having military experience), at least 18-years-old, and currently living in the United States. To determine the necessary sample size for a two-tailed logistic regression model to detect an Odds Ratio of 1.5 (small effect), G\*Power 3.1 was used. It was determined that 503 participants are required. Due to the high possibility of missing data and errors on validity checks, a total of 600 veterans were recruited for this study. To detect moderate effects (w = .3) between two groups using a chi-square analysis with power = .80, 88 participants are needed to detect this effect. Using the same parameters 143 participants are needed to detect an effect between all groups (df = 5).

#### Interventions

The interventions were three nudges: a social norms nudge, a framing technique, and a psychological numbing nudge. For the social norms nudge, Veterans were given the following statement, "In a recent survey, 98% of US Veterans thought that other Veterans should seek help if they are having thoughts of suicide." This statistic was previously collected by the Anxiety and Trauma Research Program (ATRP). Participants will then be told, "If you would like, please select the crisis number you will put into your phone, and put that number into your phone now. Otherwise, press the continue button at the bottom of the page." The second intervention is a framing technique. The first group was asked, "Would you be willing to learn how you could help other Veterans navigate thoughts of suicide or times of distress?" The second group was asked, "Would you be willing to learn how you could help yourself navigate thoughts of suicide or times of distress?"

The third intervention used a psychological numbing nudge. The first group read a personal story of a Veteran who died by suicide whereas the second group was given statistics on Veteran suicide deaths (see Figure 3). Each vignette had approximately the same word count and exactly five sentences to help control for the amount of information given.

Lastly, the control group was asked, "Would you like to learn more about how to navigate suicidal thoughts or times of distress?" This message controls for subject preference (self vs. other) by not specifying any one person(s) as a target for this intervention, and is intentionally left ambiguous. In addition, this statement does not offer any additional information about Veteran suicide in any form to help isolate the possible effects of the social norms and psychological numbing nudges. If participants answer "Yes" to any of these questions they were provided with directions on how to fill out a safety plan using the template provided by Stanley and Brown (2008; See Figure 4) or enter a local crisis line number into their phones.

#### Outcomes and Validity Checks

#### Crisis Lines

Participants were given the option to enter a local crisis line into their phones, mainly using crisis lines associated with the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline (<u>https://suicidepreventionlifeline.org/our-crisis-centers/</u>). As a validation check for crisis lines, later in the survey, participants were asked to re-enter the crisis line number they selected prior. The crisis line numbers options provided earlier in the study were one per state and will be randomly selected crisis lines. This is to prevent participants from simply searching for the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline or typing in their state followed by "crisis line." Whenever possible, crisis lines were not the first search result returned when entered into the Google search engine. Crisis line centers (no matter which location) have all crisis line numbers on hand for each state and are able to transfer a caller to any of those locations.

#### Safety Plans

The safety plan that participants were asked to fill out is the template published by Stanley and Brown (2008). This template asks the participant to list things they can do to help cope ahead and plan for how to mitigate potential harm during a suicidal crisis. The template includes listing warning signs that a crisis may be developing, internal coping strategies (actions the participant can do without contacting another person), people/places for distraction, people an individual can ask for help, clinician and emergency contact information, how to make the environment safer, and one thing that is most important and worth living for. Participants were given a short two-question validity check to ensure that they read and completed the safety plan.

#### Materials

#### Demographic Information

A self-report questionnaire modeled after the Military Suicide Research Consortium's (MSRC) common data elements gathered information on military history
(e.g., branch, length of service, deployment history, rank), past mental health treatment, age, sex, race, marital status, occupational history, and education.

Self-Injurious Thoughts and Behaviors Interview-Short Form (SITBI-Short Form; Nock, Holmberg, Photos, & Michel, 2007)

The SITBI-Short form identifies individuals at risk for suicide. The measure includes multiple items assessing the following areas: suicidal ideation, suicide planning, suicide gestures, suicide attempts, thoughts of non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI), and NSSI. For each of these areas, several items are used to garner information about the history of experiences (both past and present), intensity, and qualitative descriptions (e.g., what method did you think about using to attempt suicide?). The SITBI has been shown to have strong interrater reliability (r = 1.0) and retest reliability (k = .70), with strong correspondence with measure of ideation (k = 54) NSSI (k = .87) and suicide attempts (k= .65) (Nock et al., 2007).

Stigma of Suicide Scale – Short Form (SOSS-SF; Batterham Calear, & Christensen, 2013)

The SOSS-SF is a self-report measure designed to measure a person's stigma against suicide. The SOSS-SF is comprised of 16 adjectives that represent a "typical" person who dies by suicide and is divided into three subscales: Isolation/Depression, Stigma, and Glorification/Normalization. Items use a 5-point Likert-type item scale (1 'Strongly Disagree' to 5 'Strongly Agree'), with higher scores indicating greater agreement that the adjective accurately represents a "typical" person who dies by suicide. Previous studies have found that the SOSS-SF demonstrates discriminant and convergent validity with related constructs, and all three subscale factors have demonstrated strong

internal consistency (Batterham et al., 2013; Williams, Cero, Gauthier, & Witte, 2018). Reliability for this measure in the current sample was excellent ( $\omega = .92, 95\%$ CI [.91, .94]).

#### Suicide Behaviors Questionnaire-Revised (SBQ-R; Osman et al., 2001)

The SBQ-R was used to measure suicide-related thoughts and behaviors. The SBQ-R is a 4-item questionnaire that contains one item for frequency of suicidal ideation over the previous twelve months, one item for lifetime suicide ideation and/or attempt, one item for assessing self-reported likelihood of suicidal behavior in the future, and one item to evaluate the threat of suicide attempt. Reliability for the SBQ-R in the current sample was excellent ( $\omega = .90, 95\%$ CI [.91, .94]).

#### Inventory of Depression and Anxiety Symptoms-II (IDAS-II; Watson et al., 2012)

The IDAS-II is a self-report measure assessing specific depression and anxiety symptoms. Participants are presented with a list of sensations, feelings, experiences, and problems, and asked to rate how well each item describes recent experiences during the past two weeks from 1 ("not at all") to 5 ("extremely"). The IDAS-II contains several subscales including General Depression, Dysphoria, Lassitude, Insomnia, Suicidality, Appetite Loss, Appetite Gain, Well-Being, Ill Temper, Mania, Euphoria, Panic, Social Anxiety, Claustrophobia, Traumatic Intrusions, Traumatic Avoidance, Checking, Ordering, and Cleaning, The IDAS-II has evidenced strong psychometric properties (Watson et al., 2012). In this sample, the reliability for the Depression subscale was excellent ( $\omega = .96$ , 95%CI [.96, .97]) and the reliability for the Well-Being subscale reliability was good ( $\omega = .85$ , 95%CI [.82, .87]).

*The Depression Severity Index – Suicide Subscale (DSI-SS; Metalsky & Joiner, 1997)* 

The DSI-SS is a four-time self-report measure designed to identify the frequency and intensity of suicidal ideation and impulses during the past two weeks. Specifically, items assess suicidal ideation frequency, Item scores range from 0 to 3 (total scores from 0 to 12) with high scores reflecting greater suicidal ideation severity. Past research using the DSI-SS have found acceptable results for construct validity and internal consistency (Joiner, Pfaff, & Acres, 2002; Metalsky & Joiner, 1997). The reliability in this sample for the DSI-SS was excellent ( $\omega = .90, 95\%$ CI [.88, .92]).

#### Monetary Choice Questionnaire (MQC; Kirby & Marakovic, 1996)

The MCQ is a 27-item self-report assessment that measures delayed reward discounting. More specifically, the MCQ measures an individual's preference for smaller immediate rewards compared to larger delayed rewards. The MCQ contains 27 questions, each with two options: a smaller immediate amount of money or a and a larger delayed amount. The rewards are comprised of small (\$25-35), medium (\$50-60), and large (\$75-85) monetary amounts. A hyperbolic equation (Mazur, 2000) is used to calculate the discount rate, with higher rates suggesting a preference for smaller, immediate rewards. In this sample, the overall consistency for the MCQ was .81.

#### Adult Decision-Making Competence (A-DMC; Bruine de Bruin et al., 2007)

The A-DMC contains seven self-report decision making tasks to assess Resistance to Framing, Recognizing Social Norms, Under/overconfidence, Applying Decision Rules, Consistency in Risk Perception, Resistance to Sunk Costs, and Path Independence. The current study only used the Recognizing Social Norms component. The Recognizing Social Norms task measures an individual's ability to assess peer norms based on studies by Jacobs et al. (1995) and Loeber (1989). In this task, participants are first asked to judge if "it is sometimes OK" to engage in any of the 16 listed undesirable behaviors (e.g., stealing). Later in the survey, participants are then asked to estimate how many people out of 100 endorse each of the same 16 behaviors. The first set is computed as a grand average and then a difference score is calculated between the actual and estimated percentage, resulting in a z-score. The reliability for the A-DMC in this study was excellent ( $\omega = .98, 95\%$ CI [.97, .98]).

#### Procedures

All aspects of study were conducted online. Veterans/participants were instructed that the survey is asking about mental health and treatment seeking behaviors. Participants will be paid \$3.25 for a thirty-five-minute survey. Participants were told in the description of the study that this study uses screener questions and attention checks, and if participants do not meet the study eligibility criteria or fail attention checks that they will be terminated from the study and not receive compensation. Following consent and CAPTCHA verification, participants completed a short 3-question screener based on the suggestions of Lynn and Morgan (2016) for using Mturk to recruit military veterans. The screener-questions were: 1) What is the acronym for the locations where final physicals are taken prior to shipping off for basic training? (four letters); 2) What is the acronym for the generic term the military uses for various job fields? (three letters); 3) Have you ever served in the United States military? Participants who fail to answer 2/3 of these questions correctly will be terminated from the study. Participants who passed the screening eligibility were randomized into one of two conditions (n = 300 each) and then further randomized into one of six subgroups (n = 50 per group), each containing a specific nudge (or control) to test which nudge is most effective in increasing the

probability of performing one of the unique outcomes (i.e., completing a safety plan, entering a local crisis line). Participants then completed a survey consisting of possible correlates (e.g., suicide risk) and demographic information.

#### CHAPTER III - RESULTS

#### **Preliminary Analyses**

# Data Screening

Based on current recommendations for screening potential low-quality data and suspected bots, multiple screening methods that vary in difficulty and type of careless responding were used (Bauer et al., 2020). These methods include a low-difficulty and high-difficulty instructional manipulation check (Berinsky et al., 2014; Berinsky et al., 2019), incongruent information across the study (i.e., identifying as US military servicemember at start of survey but not at the end), qualitative screening of open-ended questions, and a self-created bot screener that asks participants to re-order prizes in order of preference (see Figure 5). The high-difficulty instructional manipulation check (IMC; Oppenheimer, Meyvis, & Davidenko, 2009) has been shown to increase statistical power without biasing samples (Thomas & Clifford, 2017). During the IMC, participants are given 2-3 sentences of content regarding a topic and then in the 3<sup>rd</sup> or 4<sup>th</sup> sentence told, "We also want to know that you are paying attention to this question. To show that you've read this much, please select A and B as your two answers." This is followed by the last sentence, which asks them to pick an answer according to the content of the passage. Based on recommendations for erring towards low false-positive rates (Curran, 2016), participants who failed three or more validity checks were removed from all analyses.

# Data Analytic Plan

To test the hypotheses, three types of analyses were conducted. First, zero-order correlations across all study variables were examined to understand the magnitude of the

relationships between the variables. Second, Pearson Chi-square tests were used to examine group differences (using count data) to determine if individuals in the nudge group or the control group responded differently to each unique outcome. In addition, Chi-square tests were used to compare if nudges worked differently depending on the crisis outcome. Third, the nudge conditions were collapsed into binary groupings: unengaged (did not complete safety plan) and engaged (completed safety plan). For this, a logistic regression model tested if receiving a nudge of any kind made an individual more likely to engage with evidence-based resources. In addition, post-hoc exploratory analyses were performed to examine possible correlates using logistic regression and Pearson Chi-square analyses. Effect sizes for Chi-square analyses are reported as Odds Ratios (OR) for 2x2 tables and Cramer's V for tables larger than 2x2; 95% confidence intervals are denoted after effect sizes in brackets.

# **Primary Analyses**

Demographic characteristics can be found in Tables 1 and 2, and intercorrelations between all study variables are listed in Table 3. A total of 96 (21%) of participants endorsed having thoughts of killing themselves three or more times in the past year and 46 (10.1%) endorsed attempting suicide in their lifetime. The flow of participants through this study is outlined in Figure 6. There was substantial data loss due to low-quality data and suspected bots (see Figure 7), with 63 participants being excluded from all analyses due to failing screening checks. A total of 46.9% were lost in the control conditions and 44.9% were lost in the experimental conditions. A chi-square test indicated that these losses between conditions were not statistically different  $\chi^2(1) = .66$ , p = .42, [95%CI = .40, .50]. Further, there were no differences in data loss between outcome conditions (safety plan = 205; crisis line = 186). The remaining participants had less than one percent missing data across study variables and thus pairwise deletion was used for all analyses (Cohen, 1987). Skew was acceptable (<2.0) for all continuous variables. Multivariate outliers were assessed using Mahalonobis's Distance using the *careless* package (Yentes & Wilhelm, 2018). Three participants were flagged as multivariate outliers and removed from analyses, leaving a total of 457 participants for analysis. The Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) was used to assess multicollinearity within multinomial logistic regression models; all VIF scores were acceptable (Range = 1.02 - 3.18; Cutoff = 5 [Stine, 1995]).

# Chi-square analyses testing engagement with a crisis line by nudge group

There was not a significant overall effect of nudge group on engaging with a crisis line  $\chi^2(5) = 10.04, p = .074, V = .21, [.14 .37]$ ; see Figure 8). Within the direct comparisons, social norms outperformed the control group ( $\chi^2[1] = 4.50, p = .033, OR = 3.12$  [1.07, 9.14]). The Helping Others versus Helping Self group also did not differ ( $\chi^2[1] = .42, p = .513, OR = .72$  [.27, 1.94]), nor were there differences between the Data group versus the Veteran Story group ( $\chi^2[1] = 1.33, p = .249, OR = 1.83$  [.65, 5.18]).

Chi-square analyses testing engagement with a safety plan by nudge group

There was no overall effect of nudge group on engaging with a safety plan  $\chi^2(5) = 6.70$ , p = .244, V = .17, [.12, .34]; see Figure 9). Social norms were associated with more safety plan engagement than the control group ( $\chi^2[1] = 5.01$ , p = .025, OR = 2.93 [1.12, 7.63]). The Helping Others group did not significantly differ from the Helping Self group

 $(\chi^{2}[1] = .86, p = .353, OR = 1.59 [.59, 4.29])$ , nor did the Data group versus the Veteran Story group ( $\chi^{2}[1] = .497, p = .481 \text{ OR} = .70 [.26, 1.88]$ ).

# Chi-square analysis testing nudge effectiveness on engagement overall

There was not a significant difference between receiving any nudge (nudge engagement = 26.4%, n = 60) and no nudge (no nudge engagement = 21.5%, n = 50) for engaging in any crisis resource ( $\chi^2[1] = 1.56$ , p = .211, OR = 1.31 [.86, 2.02]).

# **Exploratory Analyses**

#### Chi-square analysis testing differences between nudge conditions

There was a significant overall difference when testing if certain nudge conditions were more effective at increasing engagement than others  $\chi^2(2) = 7.45$ , p = .024, V = .18, [.07 .32]; see Figure 10). Pairwise comparisons using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure revealed that those who received social norms messaging had 2.5x greater odds of engaging with a crisis resource compared to those who received a Veteran story ( $\chi^2$ [1] = 7.45, p = .037, OR = 2.49 [1.26, 4.91]. The Social norms condition did not outperform the Helping Others condition (p = .642) nor did the Helping Others condition outperform the Veteran Story condition (p = .177).

## Chi-square analysis testing crisis resource and rate of engagement

There was not a significant difference in engaging with a crisis line (crisis line engagement = 30.5%, n = 69) compared to a safety plan (safety plan engagement = 30.8%, n = 72;  $\chi^2[1] = .01$ , p = .956, OR = .99 [.67, 1.47]) regarding the rate of engagement.

Chi-square analyses testing nudge effectiveness by crisis outcome

Social norms were no more effective at increasing engagement with crisis lines compared to safety plans ( $\chi^2[1] = .01$ , p = .986, OR = 1.01 [.41, 2.47]). Similarly, the Helping Others condition was no more effective at increasing engagement with a particular crisis outcome ( $\chi^2[1] = .25$ , p = .618 OR = .62 [.27, 2.16]), nor was the Veteran Story condition ( $\chi^2[1] = .91$ , p = .339 OR = .61 [.22, 1.70]).

# Logistic regression testing moderating effects of study variables on engagement

Full information on logistic regression models is in Table 4. Receiving a nudge was not associated with engaging with any crisis resource (OR = 1.28 [.83, 1.97]. When the type of outcome (i.e., safety plan or crisis line) and nudge/no nudge was included as an interaction term (Outcome X NudgeNoNudge), the odds of engaging in the safety plan group were 50.1% higher relative to the crisis line group (OR = .50 [.27, .97]); however, the product of these two terms was not significant (OR = .74 [.30, 1.84]).

Next, sex, age, military rank, number of combat tours, IDAS-Depression scores, IDAS-Well Being scores, SBQR scores, MCQ scores, SOSS scores, and A-DMC Social Norms scores were added to the model. Several meaningful differences emerged. Participants with higher depression scores (b = .029, SE = .01, p = .012) was associated with engaging with a crisis resource and higher discounting rates (b = -.19, SE = .00, p = .049) was associated with being less likely to engage with a crisis resource. Further, the safety plan group remained significantly associated with crisis resource engagement, with the odds of engaging in a crisis resource being over twice as likely in the safety plan group relative to the crisis line group [OR = 2.07; [1.05, 4.21]).

#### CHAPTER IV - DISCUSSION

Nudges have been used as cost- and time-effective interventions to influence behaviors across several domains (Benartzi et al., 2017), including suicide prevention (Bauer et al., 2019). This study attempted to replicate previous findings showing that nudges can be effective at influencing individuals to engage with suicide prevention crisis materials (Bauer et al., 2019). In addition, to try and increase the effectiveness of using nudges for mental health, the current study examined if certain nudges are more effective than others, if nudges work differently across outcomes, and explore potential correlates that could impact the probability of engaging with crisis resources. Overall, hypotheses were largely unsupported. However, the results from this study provide important information for future suicide prevention nudge studies and highlights the limitations of conducting nudge studies under controlled experimental conditions with crowdsourcing platforms.

The hypothesis that results would replicate prior nudge findings (Bauer et al., 2019) was partially supported. Receiving a social norms nudge, relative to a control message, increased the likelihood of engaging in both a crisis lines and safety plans, and was more effective than at least one other nudge (i.e., Veteran Story). These results are similar to previous results from one suicide prevention study using social norms (Bauer et al., 2019) as well as the many studies using social norms to influence behaviors in an array of areas such as curbing college drinking rates (Borsari & Carey, 2003), reducing littering (Kallgreen et al., 2000), and increasing sun protection (Reid & Aike, 2013). Social norms are posited to increase behavioral compliance through an individual's goal of being accurate, maintain affiliation with meaningful social relationships, and maintain

a positive self-concept (Cialdini et al., 2004), which impacts intention probabilities and ultimately decision likelihoods (Azjezn, 1991; Armitage & Conner, 2001; Sheeran & Orbell, 2001). Future suicide prevention studies that use social norms nudges should seek to identify which compliance constructs are most impacted by suicide prevention messaging to better understand potential mediation effects.

The study failed to replicate prior findings showing that messages asking participants to engage with crisis resources to help *others* were more effective than messages asking them to engage to help *themselves* (Bauer, et al., 2019). In the current study, there were no significant differences between Helping Self and Helping Others messages in either condition (i.e., safety plan, crisis line). The hypothesized mechanism of change for using this framing technique was to circumvent potential optimism biases and stigma surrounding suicide prevention materials. Stigma was not associated with engaging, or not engaging, with one of the crisis resources. Although many studies have cited US Veteran stigma towards suicide and suicide prevention treatment as significant barriers (Nichter et al., 2020), there have been fewer studies that have examined if stigma is a barrier for online suicide prevention materials. It is possible that resources that can be pursued anonymously without others' knowledge, such as safety plans and crisis line entry, are less stigmatized than traditional forms of care. If true, this would suggest that nudges designed to combat stigma in such situations may be somewhat unnecessary. Similarly, although not assessed in the current study, Veterans may have less optimism bias than other groups studied in the past due to the high rates of suicide exposure within the military and the impact of these suicide deaths on Veterans (Hom et al., 2017). To assess the possible mechanisms of framing nudges such as Helping Others more

accurately, it is imperative that future work measure stigma about the targeted outcome as well as baseline optimism bias levels prior to the nudge intervention. Alternatively, the null results could be due to different populations being studied (e.g., college students versus military) or differences in the nature of the outcome (e.g., naturalistic versus crowdsourcing survey).

Contrary to the hypotheses, the Veteran Story condition did not outperform the Veteran Suicide Data condition for increasing crisis resource engagement. Affect can be a primary motivator for making decisions (Loewenstein & Lerner, 2003; Slovic et al., 2005), but can be easily biased by many different factors such as social proximity, novelty, vividness, etc. (Slovic, 2007). Because of this, the nudge message that was created for the Veteran Story may not have contained details that were novel, vivid, or elicited the attention needed to produce a strong affective response that might influence engagement behavior. Input from Veterans and military members on how to refine this message to be more effective, and whom the message should be delivered from (Anestis et al., 2021), may help refine this nudge to make it more productive. In addition, future studies should measure emotional states before and after using stories to better understand the role of emotion and decision making.

Psychologically numbing/compassion collapse is hypothesized to be due to active self-regulation that attempts to inhibit our moral impulse when many victims are involved to preserve our own self-interests (Cameron & Payne, 2011). Most work on Veteran and military self-regulation has investigated this construct in the context of mental disorders, such as Posttraumatic-Stress Disorder and suicidal behaviors (Albanese et al., 2019; Rabinak et al., 2014). However, few (if any) studies have compared emotion regulation

abilities in healthy Veterans/military personnel to healthy civilian counterparts to examine population-level differences. Given the malleability of self-regulation ability (Berking et al., 2013), it is possible that healthy Veterans and military personnel have greater self-regulation abilities compared to civilians in the particular area of morality, potentially due to military experiences and training. In this study, the low engagement rates and null results from comparing a Veteran Story to Veteran Data may be due to high levels of emotion regulation towards moral issues reducing affect in the data condition and an ineffectual story in the Veteran Story condition.

The exploratory results suggested that people who displayed a preference for smaller, more immediate monetary rewards (higher MCQ scores) were less likely to engage in crisis resources and those endorsing more depressive symptoms were more likely to engage with crisis resources. These results may suggest that those with higher discounting scores did not view crisis resources as more immediately rewarding to them, which could be especially true as most of our sample did not endorse current or past-year ideation (79% no past-year ideation). However, it is currently unclear in decision-making research how presenting options numerically translates to non-numerical options, with some studies indicating little overlap (Huber et al., 2014). Those with higher depression scores were also more likely to engage with crisis resources, which intuitively makes sense as those experiencing depressive symptoms may have a more immediate need for safety plans and crisis lines. However, it is interesting that suicide risk scores (SBQ-R scores) were not significantly associated with resource engagement. It is possible the suicidal ideation rates in this sample represented more transient suicidal thoughts, whereas depressive symptoms were more stable and thus salient. This saliency of

depressive symptoms and negative mood may have created a more robust link towards the need for mental health resources. Although there is ample evidence showing a negative correlation between depressive symptoms and mental health help-seeking (Barney et al., 2006; Magaard et al., 2017; Schomerus et al., 2009), there are far fewer studies examining if this relationship holds for nontraditional mental health resources, such as those that do not require face-to-face interaction with a mental health professional.

From the exploratory analyses, after accounting for covariates, participants in this sample were more likely to engage with a crisis line compared to a safety plan after accounting for nudge group status (i.e., receiving a nudge condition or not receiving a nudge condition). Two main reasons might exist for this discrepancy. First, participants on MTurk are likely more interested in completing surveys efficiently – that is, ensuring that they are provided a high approval rate by their surveyors while also finishing as many surveys/tasks as possible. Therefore, people may have entered crisis lines more than completing safety plans because it was less time consuming. Second, this sample (e.g., Veterans, Military Personnel) may have been more familiar with crisis lines – due to the Veterans Crisis Line - and were thus more willing to engage. Given the importance of past behavior and past exposure to options in predicting future decisions (Bamberg et al., 2003), those who are aware of crisis lines and their legitimacy (being endorsed by the military) may have been more likely to enter the crisis line into their phone because they are more familiar and confidence in the efficacy of crisis lines relative to safety planning. Future suicide prevention nudge studies should examine perceived efficacy and exposure

to an intervention between resources prior to testing to investigate how these variables relate to engagement outcomes.

There are several possibilities for the general lack of significant results within this study, including: 1) Nudges being ineffective; 2) Nudges being ineffective for suicide prevention and/or mental health; 3) and MTurk being an ineffective platform for testing nudges. To the first point, it is unlikely that nudges are ineffective overall, given the many different naturalistic and experimental designs across disciplines that show their effectiveness (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008). Further, it also appears unlikely that resource engagement for suicide prevention is an area immune to the effects of nudges, given that nudges have been successful in similar areas (e.g., stigmatized topics, prevention resources) such as HIV prevention and interventions (Albarracín et al., 2008; Albarracín et al., 2016). Further, suicide prevention studies have shown that reframing messages (Stanley et al., 2020) and making engagement easier (Jaroszewski et al., 2019) – two commonly used nudges – can be effective strategies. Rather, it seems more likely that suicide prevention nudges need to undergo further testing and refinement to be consistently effective. In other areas of implementation science, researchers have adopted rapid cycle approaches with a "fail fast and learn quickly" goal to develop and refine innovation quickly without investing heavy resources (Asch & Rosin, 2015; Asch et al., 2014; Boustani et al., 2018). This type of development process could help develop optimal nudges for suicide prevention quickly and economically.

Another notable possibility in understanding the current results is that MTurk may not be an effective platform for testing nudges. First, there has been a marked decrease in the quality of MTurk data over time (Chmielewski & Kucker, 2020; Kennedy et al., 2020), likely because of a mixture of "bots" and fraudulent users outside of the US posing as American MTurk workers (Moss et al., 2021). A recent study found that even after using best practices to ensure data quality, up to 28% of participants misrepresent their qualifications (MacInnis et al., 2020). Second, one survey found that approximately 40% of MTurk workers list MTurk as their primary source of income (Brawley & Pury, 2016), with additional workers requiring income from MTurk to satisfy basic needs (Ross et al., 2010). Necka and Colleagues (2016) found that participants who use MTurk as their primary source of income of income are more likely to falsify information (e.g., false reporting). Together, these studies suggest that completing an MTurk task/survey quickly is a primary motivator for many MTurk workers, and that engaging in extra tasks that require time and no additional monetary compensation are routinely bypassed.

#### Limitations and Future Directions

There are several limitations that warrant caution when interpreting these results. First, the data loss lowered the sample size considerably, causing analyses to be underpowered to detect moderate effects in many direct group comparisons. Second, several important theoretical variables were not assessed. One commonly used theory for explaining behaviors is The Theory of Planned Behavior (Ajzen, 1991), which emphasizes variables such as previous engagement with a behavior, normative beliefs about the behavior, and the strength of these variables. Because nudges are most powerful in instances of uncertainty (e.g., prior beliefs are not strongly held), it will be important for future nudge research in suicide prevention to assess these variables for potential moderating effects, as those who have strong beliefs about a resource (e.g., believing crisis lines are ineffective) may be less willing to engage with that specific resource rather than being resistant to nudge effects overall. Third, although we used a screener to help reduce misrepresentation (i.e., participants with no military history), it is likely that several participants misrepresented their information to gain entry to this study, possibly making this sample an inaccurate reflection of US Veterans. Future studies piloting messages on specific populations – such as US Veterans – should consider using panel data from crowdsourcing platforms other than MTurk where credentials can be more appropriately verified. Fourth, the current study used a crowdsourcing platform rather than a more naturalistic design. Although proof of concept designs are needed, encountering nudges in real-world designs will likely have different effects compared to those found in laboratory-based experiments (Lichters et al., 2015).

Finally, a notable limitation of the current study is that the data quality in this sample was poor. Although best practices for ensuring data quality were used, nearly half of the data were unusable due to failed validity and attention checks. Further, the crisis line verification was less error-prone to false-negatives (bots or poor-quality workers) than the qualitative checks for the open-ended safety plan questions. Although open-ended questions have been useful in detecting poor quality responses (Moss & Litman, 2018), there are no specific cut-offs that determine high-quality versus poor-quality answers. Despite similar amounts of participants being removed from both outcomes, it is possible that the true frequency statistic for engagement with safety plan outcomes was inaccurate.

Instead of using crowdsourcing platforms, social media may be better environment to develop effective nudge messages moving forward. Many popular social media platforms (e.g., Facebook, Twitter) allow researchers to pilot nudges using a quasiexperimental naturalistic design. Using social media platforms circumvents the limitation of having MTurk workers who are primarily motivated to finish tasks for monetary compensation, occurs in a setting where decisions are often made (i.e., online), allows for comparison between groups (exposed versus unexposed), and is relatively inexpensive. However, there are important tradeoffs if researchers choose this method. Chiefly, using social media platforms with a naturalistic design makes it more difficult to analyze potential mechanisms due to no survey data being collected.

# Conclusion

In conclusion, the current study tested if nudges were more effective than not receiving a nudge, if some nudges were more effective than others, and if nudges worked differently across outcomes. This study also explored potential correlates of engaging with a crisis resource in an online sample of US Veterans. Findings suggest that social norms may be more effective than some other types of nudges (i.e., Veteran Story), which partially replicates previous findings (Bauer et al., 2019). The nudges did not perform better for any one crisis resource (i.e., crisis line, safety plan) and overall, nudges were no more effective than control conditions at increasing engagement rates. People who preferred smaller, immediate rewards were *less* likely to engage in crisis resources, indicating that these individuals may put off engaging with resources until it becomes immediately beneficial to them (i.e., when they have active suicidal thoughts). The results of this study were limited by poor data quality within the sample, ultimately constraining the sample size and decreasing power to detect planned effect sizes. To develop effective nudge messages for suicide prevention efficiently, testing nudges on social media platforms rather than crowd-sourcing platforms may be more suitable and allow researchers to observe naturalistic effects.

# APPENDIX A – TABLES AND FIGURES

# Table 1. Demographics

	Overa	Overall		= 227)	Control $(n = 233)$		
Variable	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	
Sex							
Male	268	58.30%	135	59.47%	133	57.08%	
Female	192	41.70%	92	40.53%	100	42.92%	
Race/Ethnicity							
White/Caucasian	362	78.70%	180	79.30%	182	78.11%	
Black/African American	78	17.00%	38	16.74%	40	17.17%	
Native American/Native Alaskan	16	3.50%	4	1.76%	12	5.15%	
Asian	15	3.30%	7	3.08%	8	3.43%	
Pacific Islander	1	0.20%	0	0.00%	1	0.43%	
Ethnicity							
Non-Hispanic/Latino	326	70.80%	161	70.93%	165	70.82%	
Hispanic/Latino	134	29.10%	66	29.07%	68	29.18%	
Education							
<9th Grade	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	
9-12th Grade, no diploma	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	0	0.00%	
High School Diploma	9	2.00%	5	2.20%	4	1.72%	
Some college, no degree	21	4.60%	13	5.73%	8	3.43%	
Associate degree	11	2.40%	2	0.88%	9	3.86%	
Bachelor's Degree	263	57.20%	129	56.83%	134	57.51%	
Master's Degree	152	33.00%	76	33.48%	76	32.62%	
Doctoral Degree	4	0.90%	2	0.88%	2	0.86%	
Homosexual/Gay/Lesbian	50	10.90%	21	9.25%	29	12.45%	
Heterosexual/Straight	293	63.70%	147	64.76%	146	62.66%	
Bisexual	114	24.80%	57	1%	57	24.46%	
Not Sure	1	0.20%	0	0.00%	1	0.43%	
Decline to respond	1	0.20%	1	0.44%	0	0.00%	
Other	1	0.20%	1	0.44%	0	0.00%	
Relationship Status							
Married, living together	377	82.00%	183	80.62%	194	83.26%	
Married, geographically separated	21	4.60%	10	4.41%	11	4.72%	
Single	44	9.60%	22	9.69%	22	9.44%	
Cohabitating	10	2.20%	6	2.64%	4	1.72%	
Widowed	1	0.20%	1	0.44%	0	0.00%	

(Table 1 continued)						
Divorced/Separated	7	1.50%	5	2.20%	2	0.86%
Children						
Yes	367	79.80%	183	80.62%	184	78.97%
No	93	20.20%	44	19.38%	49	21.03%
Household Income						
<\$10,000	7	1.50%	1	0.44%	6	2.58%
\$10k - \$24.9k	37	8.00%	27	11.89%	10	4.29%
\$25k - \$49.9k	107	23.30%	52	22.91%	55	23.61%
\$50k - \$74.9k	159	34.60%	75	33.04%	84	36.05%
\$75k - \$99.9k	110	23.90%	48	21.15%	62	26.61%
>\$100k	40	8.70%	24	10.57%	16	6.87%

*Note*. k = dollars in thousands.

	Over	all	<b>Nudge</b> ( <i>n</i> =	Nudge ( <i>n</i> = 227)		: 233)	
Variable	Frequency/M	% or SD	Frequency/M	%	Frequency/M	%	р
Currently Serving							0.42
Yes	291	63.3	139	61.20%	152	65.20%	
No	159	32.6	88	38.80%	81	34.80%	
Time Since Last Deployment							0.04
<1 Month	11	2.39	4	1.90%	7	3.20%	
1-6 Months	53	11.5	22	10.20%	31	14.00%	
6+ Months - 1 Year	86	18.7	44	20.50%	42	18.90%	
1-2 Years	122	26.5	59	27.40%	63	28.40%	
2-3 Years	58	12.6	29	13.50%	29	13.10%	
>3 Years	107	23.3	57	26.50%	50	22.50%	
Military Branch							0.53
Air Force - Active Duty	31	6.70%	17	7.50%	14	6.00%	
Air Force Reserve	19	4.10%	10	4.40%	9	3.90%	
Air National Guard	8	1.70%	7	3.10%	1	0.40%	
Army Active Duty	129	28.00%	66	29.10%	63	27.00%	
Army National Guard	69	15.00%	28	12.30%	32	13.70%	

# Table 2. Military Demographics

#### (Table 2 continued)

Army Reserve	66	14.30%	37	16.30%	29	12.40%	
Coast Guard - Active Duty	17	3.70%	7	3.10%	10	4.30%	
Coast Guard Reserve	10	2.20%	4	1.80%	6	2.60%	
Marine Corps - Active Duty	20	4.30%	11	4.80%	9	3.90%	
Marine Corps Reserve	17	3.70%	6	2.60%	11	4.70%	
Navy - Active Duty	26	5.70%	10	4.40%	16	6.90%	
Navy Reserve	10	2.20%	3	1.30%	7	3.00%	
Public Health Service	26	5.70%	11	4.80%	15	6.40%	
Rank							0.2
Enlisted	153	35.10%	76	35.80%	79	34.80%	
Non-Commissioned Officer	66	15.10%	28	13.20%	38	16.70%	
Warrant Officer	106	24.30%	62	29.20%	49	21.60%	
Officer	111	25.50%	46	21.70%	61	26.90%	
Times Deployed	3.79	13.96	4.56	19.62	3.26	4.02	0.43
Combat Tours	3.41	6.25	2.96	2.85	3.83	8.24	0.13

*Note.* M = Mean. SD = Standard Deviation.

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
1. SP Engage	_													
2. CL Engage	0	_												
3. No Nudge Engage	1	1	_											
4. Nudge Engage	1	1	0	—										
5. Engagement	1	1	1	1	—									
6. Sex	0.085	-0.087	0.032	-0.014	0.011	—								
7. Age	-0.021	0.027	0.052	-0.037	0.005	0.03	_							
8. Combat Tours	-0.117	0.025	0.006	-0.13	-0.029	-0.055	0.024	_						
9. MCQ	0.164*	-0.043	0.131*	0.03	0.078	0.011	-0.035	-0.011	—					
10. SOSS	-0.058	-0.051	-0.089	-0.009	-0.052	0.016	0.079	0.141**	0.126**	_				
11. SBQR	0.039	-0.067	0.01	-0.038	-0.013	-0.018	0.104*	0.083	0.227***	0.438***	—			
12. ADMC	-0.01	0.099	0.019	0.048	0.032	-0.015	-0.065	-0.166***	-0.143**	-0.476***	-0.476***	—		
13. Depression	-0.08	0.126	-0.108	-0.083	-0.097	.112*	0.07	.119*	.167***	.643***	.609***	.659***	-	
14. Well-Being	-0.045	-0.063	-0.086	0.013	-0.041	-0.048	0.077	.137**	.134**	.579***	.281***	.419***	.409***	-
Mean	0.31	0.17	0.26	0.22	0.24	0.42	38.05	3.42	3.69	24.85	7.31	-0.05	56.95	26.81
SD	-	-	-	-	-	-	10.26	6.27	1.79	8.13	4.44	0.86	18.09	6.44
Range	0 - 1	0 - 1	0 - 1	0 - 1	0 - 1	0 -1	18 - 73	0 - 25	1.39 - 8.75	8-40	3-18	-3.56	20 - 93	8-40

Table 3. Correlations, means, standard deviations, and rages for study variables.

Note. \* p < .05, \*\* p < .01, \*\*\* p < .001. Sex represents male coded as "1." SP = Safety Plan. CL = Crisis Line. MCQ = Monetary Choice Questionnaire. SOSS = Stigma of Suicide Scale - Short Form. SBQR = Suicide Behaviors Questionnaire - Revised. ADMC = Adult Decision-Making Competence. Means of binary variables reflect proportions.

Variable	b	SE	OR (95% CI)	р	McFadden R <sup>2</sup>
Model 1					
Nudge Group	-0.246	0.361	.78 (.51, 1.20)	0.264	0.002
Model 2					
Nudge Group	-0.109	0.32	.90 (.3.28, 9.30)	0.763	0.02
Outcome Group	-0.674	0.334	.51 (.26, .97)	0.043	
Nudge*Outcome	-0.295	0.46	.74 (.30, 1.84)	0.521	
Model 3					
Nudge Group	-0.345	0.303	.71 (.39, 1.28)	0.256	0.07
Outcome Group	0.727	0.352	2.07 (1.05, 4.21)	0.039	
Sex	-0.076	0.246	.91 (.56, 1.48)	0.697	
Age	-0.004	0.012	1.00 (.97, 1.02)	0.78	
Rank	0.104	0.115	1.11 (.91, 1.35)	0.298	
Combat Tours	-0.002	0.021	1.06 (.96, 1.20)	0.918	
MCQ	-0.187	0.095	.83 (.69, 1.00)	0.049	
SOSS	0.126	0.167	.88 (.63, 1.22)	0.451	
SBQR	-0.035	0.036	.97 (.90, 1.04)	0.331	
ADMC	0.177	0.197	1.19 (.81, 1.76)	0.368	
Depression	0.029	0.011	1.03, (1.01, 1.05)	0.012	
Well-Being	0.015	0.022	1.00 (.95, 1.06)	0.498	
Nudge*Outcome	0.214	0.489	1.23 (.47, 3.23)	0.662	
MCQ*Nudge	0.104	0.131	1.11 (.86, 1.44)	0.427	
Depression* MCQ	0	0.003	1.00 (.99, 1.01)	0.997	

Table 4. Logistic and multinomial log	gistic regr	ression models	S
---------------------------------------	-------------	----------------	---

*Note* For 'Nudge Group' 1 = Nudge; 0 = No Nudge. Outcome = Safety plan ("0") or crisis line group ("1"). MCQ = Monetary Choice Questionnaire. SOSS = Stigma of Suicide Scale - Short Form. SBQR = Suicide Behaviors Questionnaire - Revised. ADMC = Adult Decision-Making Competence. Well-being = Inventory of Depression and Anxiety Symptoms - II (IDAS-II) Well-Being subscale. Depression = IDAS-II Depression subscale.

Figure 1: Participant Flow Chart



# Figure 2. Psychological Numbing/Collapse of Compassion Conditions

# Statistic Group

Suicide has risen over 30% over the last 20 years. Currently, suicide is the 10th leading cause of death in the United States. US military Veterans are one group especially at risk for suicide, with suicide rates for US Veterans being well over double that of the US civilian population rate (30.1/100,000 vs. 14.2/100,000). That is equal to about 22 US Veterans dying each day.

#### Personal Story Group

Brandon was born in Snoqualmie, Washington in 1988 to his mother and father. Brandon entered the Navy at age 20 to serve his country. Brandon enjoyed hunting every year with his father and uncles, and played in several bands with his friends. Shortly after completing his last tour in the Navy, Brandon killed himself. His mother, father, and sisters miss him dearly.

# Figure 3. Safety Plan Instructions and Validity Check

Instructions: This is called a Safety Plan, and is often used by clinicians, doctors, and other health professionals to help people get through a suicidal crisis. When reading the following items, you can think of what would be helpful for a friend or loved one who may go through a suicidal crisis. The answers/items generated from this safety plan can be kept by you, or someone else, to rely on during a suicidal crisis. The questions move from what people should try first to what they should try last (e.g., professionals, agencies, urgent care).

1. What are some warning signs (e.g., thoughts, images, behaviors) that a crisis may be developing? List two or three warning signs.

2. What can you do to take your mind off of your problems without contacting another person (e.g., relaxation technique, distraction, physical activity). List two or three ideas.

3. Who are some people who you would feel comfortable talking to/calling to distract you? What social settings could you reasonably move (e.g., coffee shop, library) to, to help distract you? Generate two or more people or locations (for locations, also write down telephone numbers if you have them available).

4. Who are some people you can call to ask for help? These are people you feel comfortable talking to about what is going on, the difficulties you are having, etc. List two or three people you could call (e.g., close friends, family members, spouse/partner) and their phone numbers if you have them available.

5. If a person you are seeing a clinician (e.g., psychologist, psychiatrist, counselor/therapist) write their name(s) and phone number(s). Also, list an urgent care center (e.g., hospital emergency room), address, and phone number, and/or write down the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline phone number (1-800-273-8255) if these are not currently available.

6. List one or two ways the person could make their environment safer (e.g., asking someone to hold their firearm, remove sharp knives from being easily accessible).

7. Write one thing that is most important and worth living for.

Validity Checks:

I. Which of the following topics was not explicitly part of the safety plan (Choose one)?

- a. Making the environment safe
- b. Identifying warning signs
- c. Calling the police
- d. Listing an urgent care facility's address
- e. All were topics within the safety plan

II. The safety plan suggests that people should try taking their mind off of their problems before calling a clinician (e.g., psychologist, psychiatrist, counselor/therapist):

- a. True
- b. False

# Figure 4. Instructional Manipulation Check

When people are having thoughts of suicide, or are in a state of extreme distress, there are several different resources and skills people can utilize. We want to know which resources people are most likely to actually use in these situations. We also want to know that you are paying attention to this question. To show that you're reading each question closely, please select Local Crisis Line and Safety Plan as your two answers. If you were having thoughts of suicide, which resource are you most likely you use? (Please only choose one)

- c. National Suicide Prevention Lifeline
- d. Distraction
- e. Change Location
- f. Local Crisis Line
- g. Safety Plan
- h. Call Therapist
- i. Call a Friend or Family Member
- j. Go to the Emergency Room
- k. Deep Breathing
- l. Exercised

# *Figure 5. Prize reorder – bot screener*

Please put the following prizes in order, starting with the prize which you would want to receive the <u>most</u> (#1) to the one you would want to receive the <u>least</u> (#4).

- 1. A book
- 2. A new car
- 3. \$100,000
- 4. Previously chewed gum

Figure 6. Flow of participants through study.



*Caption*. Total sample size was 46 after quality checks. A total of 46.9% were lost in the control conditions and 44.9% were lost in the experimental conditions. A chi-square test indicated that these losses were not statistically different  $\chi^2$  (1) =.66, *p* = .42, [95%CI = .40, .50].

Figure 7. Low-quality data examination

A.



B.

Group 1	Group 2	Group 3	Group 4	Counts
0	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	1	0
0	0	1	0	0
0	0	1	1	0
0	1	0	0	0
0	1	0	1	0
0	1	1	0	0
0	1	1	1	0
1	0	0	0	3
1	0	0	1	10
1	0	1	0	2
1	0	1	1	1
1	1	0	0	42
1	1	0	1	316
1	1	1	0	10
1	1	1	1	139

*Caption.* 'A' is a Venn Diagram displaying the amount of overlap between all four low-quality examinations. IMC = high-difficulty instructional manipulation check. Instructional = low-difficulty instructional manipulation check. Bot = prize reorder bot check. Military = incongruent answers on military history question. 'B' is a table displaying these groupings numerically





Group	Engaged	No Engagement	$\chi^2$	р	V [95%CI]
			10.04	0.07	.21 [.14, .37]
Control	6	26			
Social Norms	18	25			
Help Others	10	20			
Help Self	16	23			
Data	11	27			
Story	8	36			





Group	Engaged	No Engagement	$\chi^2$	р	V (95%CI)
			6.7	0.24	.17 [.10, .33]
Control	10	41			
Social Norms	15	21			
Help Others	13	20			
Help Self	11	27			
Data	12	23			
Story	11	30			





Group	Engaged	No Engagement	$\chi^2$	р	V (95%CI)
			7.45	0.024	.18 [.07, .32]
Social Norms	33	46			
Help Others	23	40			
Veteran Story	19	66			
## APPENDIX B - IRB Approval Letter

Office of Research Integrity

118 COLLEGE DRIVE #5125 • HATTIESBURG, MS | 601.266.6576 | USM.EDU/ORI

## NOTICE OF INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD ACTION

The project below has been reviewed by The University of Southern Mississippi Institutional Review Board in accordance with Federal Drug Administration regulations (21 CFR 26, 111), Department of Health and Human Services regulations (45 CFR Part 46), and University Policy to ensure:

- The risks to subjects are minimized and reasonable in relation to the anticipated benefits.
- The selection of subjects is equitable.
- Informed consent is adequate and appropriately documented.
- Where appropriate, the research plan makes adequate provisions for monitoring the data collected to ensure the safety of the subjects.
- Where appropriate, there are adequate provisions to protect the privacy of subjects and to maintain the confidentiality of all data.
- Appropriate additional safeguards have been included to protect vulnerable subjects.
- Any unanticipated, serious, or continuing problems encountered involving risks to subjects must be reported immediately. Problems should be reported to ORI via the Incident template on Cayuse IRB.
- The period of approval is twelve months. An application for renewal must be submitted for projects exceeding twelve months.
- FACE-TO-FACE DATA COLLECTION WILL NOT COMMENCE UNTIL USM'S IRB MODIFIES THE DIRECTIVE TO HALT NON-ESSENTIAL (NO DIRECT
  BENEFIT TO PARTICIPANTS) RESEARCH.

## PROTOCOL NUMBER: IRB-20-330

PROJECT TITLE: Using Nudges to Increase Engagement with Suicide Prevention Resources in an Online Sample of United States Military Veterans SCHOOL/PROGRAM: School of Psychology, Psychology

RESEARCHER(S): Brian Bauer, Daniel Capron

IRB COMMITTEE ACTION: Approved

CATEGORY: Expedited

7. Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior (including, but not limited to, research on perception, cognition, motivation, identity, language, communication, cultural beliefs or practices, and social behavior) or research employing survey, interview, oral history, focus group, program evaluation, human factors evaluation, or quality assurance methodologies.

PERIOD OF APPROVAL: July 16, 2020

Sonald Baccofr.

Donald Sacco, Ph.D. Institutional Review Board Chairperson

## REFERENCES

- Ackerman, J. P., McBee-Strayer, S. M., Mendoza, K., Stevens, J., Sheftall, A. H., Campo, J. V., & Bridge, J. A. (2015). Risk-sensitive decision-making deficit in adolescent suicide attempters. Journal of child and adolescent psychopharmacology, 25(2), 109-113.
- Agarwal, S., Chomsisengphet, S., Mahoney, N., & Stroebel, J. (2014). Regulating consumer financial products: Evidence from credit cards. *The Quarterly Journal* of Economics, 130(1), 111-164.
- Albanese, B. J., Macatee, R. J., Stanley, I. H., Bauer, B. W., Capron, D. W., Bernat, E., ...
  & Schmidt, N. B. (2019). Differentiating suicide attempts and suicidal ideation using neural markers of emotion regulation. *Journal of affective disorders*, 257, 536-550.
- Albarracín, D., Durantini, M. R., Earl, A., Gunnoe, J. B., & Leeper, J. (2008). Beyond the most willing audiences: A meta-intervention to increase exposure to HIVprevention programs by vulnerable populations. *Health Psychology*, 27(5), 638-644.
- Albarracín, D., Wilson, K., Durantini, M. R., Sunderrajan, A., & Livingood, W. (2016).
  A meta-intervention to increase completion of an HIV-prevention intervention:
  Results from a randomized controlled trial in the state of Florida. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 84(12), 1052-1065.
- Allcott, H. (2011). Social norms and energy conservation. *Journal of public Economics*, 95(9-10), 1082-1095.

- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-5*®). American Psychiatric Pub.
- Amos, T., Appleby, L., & Kiernan, K. (2001). Changes in rates of suicide by car exhaust asphyxiation in England and Wales. *Psychological medicine*, *31*(5), 935-939.
- Anestis, M. D., & Anestis, J. C. (2015). Suicide rates and state laws regulating access and exposure to handguns. *American journal of public health*, *105*(10), 2049-2058.
- Anestis, M. D., & Capron, D. W. (2016). An investigation of persistence through pain and distress as an amplifier of the relationship between suicidal ideation and suicidal behavior. *Journal of affective disorders*, 196, 78-82.
- Anestis, M. D., & Joiner, T. E. (2011). Examining the role of emotion in suicidality: Negative urgency as an amplifier of the relationship between components of the interpersonal–psychological theory of suicidal behavior and lifetime number of suicide attempts. *Journal of affective disorders*, *129*(1-3), 261-269.

Ariely, D. (2008). Predictably irrational (p. E2). Harper Audio.

- Ariely, D., & Loewenstein, G. (2006). The heat of the moment: The effect of sexual arousal on sexual decision making. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 19(2), 87-98.
- Arkes, H. R., & Blumer, C. (1985). The psychology of sunk cost. Organizational behavior and human decision processes, 35(1), 124-140.
- Asch, D. A., & Rosin, R. (2015). Innovation as discipline, not fad. N England Journal of Medicine, 373(7), 592-594.
- Asch, D. A., Terwiesch, C., Mahoney, K. B., & Rosin, R. (2014). Insourcing health care innovation. *The New England journal of medicine*, 370, 1775-1777.

- Bargh, J.A. (1997). The automaticity of everyday life. In R.S. Wyer, Jr. (Ed.), *The automaticity of everyday life: Advances in social cognition* (pp. 1-61). Erlbaum. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315806327
- Barney, L. J., Griffiths, K. M., Jorm, A. F., & Christensen, H. (2006). Stigma about depression and its impact on help-seeking intentions. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 40(1), 51-54.
- Barrett, L. F., Tugade, M. M., & Engle, R. W. (2004). Individual differences in working memory capacity and dual-process theories of the mind. *Psychological bulletin*, 130(4), 553-573.
- Bauer, B.W. & Capron, D.W. (2019, April). Nudging People into Means Safety. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Association of Suicidology, Denver.
- Bauer, B., Larsen, K. L., Caulfield, N., Elder, D., Jordan, S., & Capron, D. (2020). Review of best practice recommendations for ensuring high quality data with Amazon's Mechanical Turk. Preprint.
- Bauer, B.W., Tucker., R.T., & Capron, D.W. (2019). A nudge in a new direction: Integrating behavioral economics with suicide prevention work. *Clinical Psychological Science*. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702618809367
- Bauer, B.W. (2019, April). Are you more likely to attend this presentation if it benefits others or yourself? Using nudges in suicide prevention research. Invited talk at the annual meeting of the American Association of Suicidology, Denver, CO.

- Baumeister, R. F. (1990). Suicide as escape from self. *Psychological review*, 97(1), 90-113.
- Beautrais, A. L., Fergusson, D. M., & Horwood, L. J. (2006). Firearms legislation and reductions in firearm-related suicide deaths in New Zealand. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 40(3), 253-259.

Beck, A. T. (Ed.). (1979). Cognitive therapy of depression. Guilford press.

- Benartzi, S., Beshears, J., Milkman, K. L., Sunstein, C. R., Thaler, R. H., Shankar, M., ... & Galing, S. (2017). Should governments invest more in nudging? *Psychological science*, 28(8), 1041-1055.
- Berg, N., & Gigerenzer, G. (2010). As-if behavioral economics: Neoclassical economics in disguise? *History of economic ideas*, 133-165.
- Berinsky, A. J., Margolis, M. F., & Sances, M. W. (2014). Separating the shirkers from the workers? Making sure respondents pay attention on self-administered surveys. *American Journal of Political Science*, 58(3), 739-753.
- Berinsky, A. J., Margolis, M. F., Sances, M. W., & Warshaw, C. (2019). Using screeners to measure respondent attention on self-administered surveys: Which items and how many? *Political Science Research and Methods*, 1-8.
- Berking, M., Ebert, D., Cuijpers, P., & Hofmann, S. G. (2013). Emotion regulation skills training enhances the efficacy of inpatient cognitive behavioral therapy for major depressive disorder: a randomized controlled trial. *Psychotherapy and psychosomatics*, 82(4), 234-245.
- Bernoulli, D. (2011). Exposition of a new theory on the measurement of risk. In *The Kelly capital growth investment criterion: Theory and practice* (pp. 11-24).

- Bettinger, E. P., Long, B. T., Oreopoulos, P., & Sanbonmatsu, L. (2012). The role of application assistance and information in college decisions: Results from the H&R Block FAFSA experiment. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 127(3), 1205-1242.
- Bond, R., & Smith, P. B. (1996). Culture and conformity: A meta-analysis of studies using Asch's (1952b, 1956) line judgment task. *Psychological bulletin*, *119*(1), 111.
- Boustani, M., Alder, C. A., & Solid, C. A. (2018). Agile implementation: a blueprint for implementing evidence-based healthcare solutions. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 66(7), 1372-1376.
- Brawley, A. M., & Pury, C. L. (2016). Work experiences on MTurk: Job satisfaction, turnover, and information sharing. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *54*, 531-546.

Brewin, B. (2013, March 13). Military suicides are up, despite 900 prevention programs.Nextgov. Retrieved from http://www.nextgov.com/defense/2013/03/military-suicides-are-despite-900prevention-programs/62019/

- Brosch, T., Scherer, K. R., Grandjean, D. M., & Sander, D. (2013). The impact of emotion on perception, attention, memory, and decision-making. *Swiss medical weekly*, 143, w13786.
- Bruine de Bruin, W., Parker, A. M., & Fischhoff, B. (2007). Individual differences in adult decision-making competence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *92*(5), 938-956. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.92.5.938

- Bruns, H., Kantorowicz-Reznichenko, E., Klement, K., Jonsson, M. L., & Rahali, B. (2018). Can nudges be transparent and yet effective?. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 65, 41-59.
- Bryan, C. J., & Rudd, M. D. (2016). The importance of temporal dynamics in the transition from suicidal thought to behavior. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 23(1), 21-25.
- Capron, D.W., Bauer, B.W., Bryan, C.J., & Joiner, T. (2019, April). When people die by suicide: Incorporating new fields with current theoretical models. Symposium to be presented at the annual meeting of the American Association of Suicidology, Denver.
- Cáceda, R., Durand, D., Cortes, E., Prendes-Alvarez, S., Moskovciak, T., Harvey, P. D.,
  & Nemeroff, C. B. (2014). Impulsive choice and psychological pain in acutely suicidal depressed patients. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 76(6), 445-451.
- Carroll, G. D., Choi, J. J., Laibson, D., Madrian, B. C., & Metrick, A. (2009). Optimal defaults and active decisions. *The quarterly journal of economics*, 124(4), 1639-1674.
- Charpentier, C. J., De Neve, J. E., Li, X., Roiser, J. P., & Sharot, T. (2016). Models of affective decision making: how do feelings predict choice? *Psychological Science*, 27(6), 763-775.
- Chmielewski, M., & Kucker, S. C. (2020). An MTurk crisis? Shifts in data quality and the impact on study results. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 11(4), 464-473.

- Chu, C., Buchman-Schmitt, J. M., Stanley, I. H., Hom, M. A., Tucker, R. P., Hagan, C. R., ... & Michaels, M. S. (2017). The interpersonal theory of suicide: A systematic review and meta-analysis of a decade of cross-national research. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(12), 1313.
- Cialdini, R. B., & Goldstein, N. J. (2004). Social influence: Compliance and conformity. *Annual. Review of Psychology*, *55*, 591-621.
- Clair, S. (1998). A cusp catastrophe model for adolescent alcohol use: An empirical test. Nonlinear Dynamics, Psychology, and Life Sciences, 2(3), 217-241.
- Clark, L., Dombrovski, A. Y., Siegle, G. J., Butters, M. A., Shollenberger, C. L., Sahakian, B. J., & Szanto, K. (2011). Impairment in risk-sensitive decisionmaking in older suicide attempters with depression. *Psychology and aging*, 26(2), 321-330.
- Colander, D. (2000). The death of neoclassical economics. *Journal of the history of Economic Thought*, 22(2), 127-143.
- Conwell, Y., Van Orden, K., & Caine, E. D. (2011). Suicide in older adults. *Psychiatric Clinics*, *34*(2), 451-468.
- Curran, P. G. (2016). Methods for the detection of carelessly invalid responses in survey data. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *66*, 4-19.
- Daigle, M. S. (2005). Suicide prevention through means restriction: assessing the risk of substitution: a critical review and synthesis. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 37(4), 625-632.
- Davis, J. B. (2006). The turn in economics: neoclassical dominance to mainstream pluralism? *Journal of institutional economics*, 2(1), 1-20.

- Deakin, J. B., Rahman, S., Nestor, P. J., Hodges, J. R., & Sahakian, B. J. (2004).
  Paroxetine does not improve symptoms and impairs cognition in frontotemporal dementia: a double-blind randomized controlled
  trial. *Psychopharmacology*, *172*(4), 400-408.
- Dempsey, C., Benedek D., Nock, M., Ng, T., Riggs, C., Aliaga, P., Caulfield, N., &
  DeStefano, S. (2018, April). *Recent stressful experiences and resilience among* US Army soldiers at risk for suicide. Poster presented at the Anxiety and
  Depression Association of America in Washington, DC.
- Department of Defense, Department of Veterans Affairs, Department of Health and Human Services, & Department of Education (2013). National research action plan. Retrieved from https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/uploads/nrap\_for\_eo\_on\_mental\_h ealth\_august\_2013.pdf
- Department of Veterans Affairs, Veterans Health Administration, Office of Mental Health and Suicide Prevention (2016). Veteran Suicide Data Report, 2005–2016. September 2018. https://www.mentalhealth.va.gov/docs/datasheets/OMHSP\_National\_Suicide\_Data\_Report\_ 2005-2016\_508-compliant.pdf
- DeSteno, D., Petty, R. E., Wegener, D. T., & Rucker, D. D. (2000). Beyond valence in the perception of likelihood: the role of emotion specificity. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 78(3), 397-416.
- Devine, P. G. (1989). Stereotypes and prejudice: Their automatic and controlled components. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *56*(1), 5-18.

- Dombrovski, A. Y., Clark, L., Siegle, G. J., Butters, M. A., Ichikawa, N., Sahakian, B. J.,
  & Szanto, K. (2010). Reward/punishment reversal learning in older suicide attempters. American Journal of Psychiatry, 167(6), 699-707.
- Dombrovski, A. Y., & Hallquist, M. N. (2017). The decision neuroscience perspective on suicidal behavior: evidence and hypotheses. *Current opinion in psychiatry*, 30(1), 7-14.
- Dombrovski, A. Y., Szanto, K., Clark, L., Reynolds, C. F., & Siegle, G. J. (2013). Reward signals, attempted suicide, and impulsivity in late-life depression. *JAMA psychiatry*, *70*(10), 1020-1030.
- Dombrovski, A. Y., Szanto, K., Siegle, G. J., Wallace, M. L., Forman, S. D., Sahakian,
  B., ... & Clark, L. (2011). Lethal forethought: delayed reward discounting
  differentiates high-and low-lethality suicide attempts in old age. Biological
  psychiatry, 70(2), 138-144.
- Drapeau, C. W., & McIntosh, J. L. (2018, April). USA suicide 2017: Official final data. Washington, DC: American Association of Suicidology. Retrieved from https://www.suicidology.org/Por

tals/14/docs/Resources/FactSheets/2017/2017 datapgsv1-FINAL.pdf

Droitcour, J., Caspar, R. A., Hubbard, M. L., Parsley, T. L., Visscher, W., & Ezzati, T.
M. (1991). The item count technique as a method of indirect questioning: A review of its development and a case study application. *Measurement errors in surveys*, 185-210.

- Duflo, E., Gale, W., Liebman, J., Orszag, P., & Saez, E. (2006). Saving incentives for low-and middle-income families: Evidence from a field experiment with H&R Block. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *121*(4), 1311-1346.
- Duflo, E., Gale, W., Liebman, J., Orszag, P., & Saez, E. (2007). Savings incentives for low-and moderate-income families in the United States: why is the saver's credit not more effective?. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 5(2-3), 647-661.
- Duflo, E., & Saez, E. (2003). The role of information and social interactions in retirement plan decisions: Evidence from a randomized experiment. *The Quarterly journal of economics*, 118(3), 815-842.
- Evans, J. S. B. (2003). In two minds: dual-process accounts of reasoning. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, 7(10), 454-459.
- Evans, J. S. B., & Stanovich, K. E. (2013). Dual-process theories of higher cognition: Advancing the debate. *Perspectives on psychological science*, 8(3), 223-241.
- Franklin, J. C., Huang, X., & Bastidas, D. (2018). Virtual reality suicide: Development of a translational approach for studying suicide causes. *Behaviour research and therapy*.
- Frederick, S., Loewenstein, G., & O'donoghue, T. (2002). Time discounting and time preference: A critical review. *Journal of economic literature*, *40*(2), 351-401.
- Friedman, M., & Savage, L. J. (1948). The utility analysis of choices involving risk. Journal of political Economy, 56(4), 279-304.

- Fridman, I., Hart, J. L., Yadav, K. N., & Higgins, E. T. (2018). Perspectives on using decision-making nudges in physician-patient communications. *PloS one*, 13(9), e0202874.
- Galynker, I., Yaseen, Z. S., Cohen, A., Benhamou, O., Hawes, M., & Briggs, J. (2017).
  Prediction of suicidal behavior in high risk psychiatric patients using an assessment of acute suicidal state: the suicide crisis inventory. *Depression and anxiety*, 34(2), 147-158.
- Gigerenzer, G. (2010). Personal reflections on theory and psychology. *Theory & Psychology*, 20(6), 733-743.
- Gigerenzer, G. E., Hertwig, R. E., & Pachur, T. E. (2011). *Heuristics: The foundations of adaptive behavior*. Oxford University Press.
- Gigerenzer, G., & Selten, R. (Eds.). (2002). *Bounded rationality: The adaptive toolbox*. MIT press.
- Godlasky, A. & Dastagir, A. (2018, November 28). Suicide rate up 33% in less than 20 years, yet funding lags behind other top killers. USA Today, Retrieved from https://www.usatoday.com/in-depth/news/investigations/survivingsuicide/2018/11/28/suicide-prevention-suicidal-thoughts-researchfunding/971336002/
- Gould, M. S., Lake, A. M., Galfalvy, H., Kleinman, M., Munfakh, J. L., Wright, J., & McKeon, R. (2018). Follow-up with callers to the National Suicide Prevention
  Lifeline: Evaluation of callers' perceptions of care. Suicide and Life-Threatening
  Behavior, 48(1), 75-86.

- Greene, J. D., Morelli, S. A., Lowenberg, K., Nystrom, L. E., & Cohen, J. D. (2008). Cognitive load selectively interferes with utilitarian moral judgment. *Cognition*, 107(3), 1144-1154.
- Halpern, D. (2015). Inside the Nudge Unit: How small changes can make a big difference. *London: WH Allen*.
- Hansen, P. G. (2016). The definition of nudge and libertarian paternalism: Does the hand fit the glove?. *European Journal of Risk Regulation*, 7(1), 155-174.
- Healy, P. M., & Palepu, K. G. (2001). Information asymmetry, corporate disclosure, and the capital markets: A review of the empirical disclosure literature. *Journal of* accounting and economics, 31(1-3), 405-440.
- Hedegaard H, Curtin SC, Warner M. Suicide mortality in the United States, 1999–2017.
  NCHS Data Brief, no 330. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics.
  2018.
- Hilbert, M. (2012). Toward a synthesis of cognitive biases: how noisy information processing can bias human decision making. *Psychological bulletin*, *138*(2), 211.
- Hirst, W., Phelps, E. A., Buckner, R. L., Budson, A. E., Cuc, A., Gabrieli, J. D., ... & Meksin, R. (2009). Long-term memory for the terrorist attack of September 11:
  Flashbulb memories, event memories, and the factors that influence their retention. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, *138*(2), 161-176.
- Holbrook, A. L., & Krosnick, J. A. (2009). Social desirability bias in voter turnout reports: Tests using the item count technique. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 74(1), 37-67.

- Hom, M. A., Stanley, I. H., Gutierrez, P. M., & Joiner Jr, T. E. (2017). Exploring the association between exposure to suicide and suicide risk among military service members and veterans. *Journal of affective disorders*, 207, 327-335.
- Huber, J., Payne, J. W., & Puto, C. P. (2014). Let's be honest about the attraction effect. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *51*(4), 520-525.
- Hufford, M. R. (2001). Alcohol and suicidal behavior. *Clinical psychology review*, 21(5), 797-811.
- Isnard, C. A., & Zeeman, E. C. (1976). Some models from catastrophe theory in the social sciences. *The Use of Models in the Social Sciences. Tavistock, London, UK*.
- Janis, I. B., & Nock, M. K. (2008). Behavioral forecasts do not improve the prediction of future behavior: a prospective study of self-injury. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 64(10), 1164-1174.
- Jacobs, J. E., Greenwald, J. P., & Osgood, D. W. (1995). Developmental differences in base rate estimates of social behaviors and attitudes. *Social Development*, 4,165–181
- Jaroszewski, A. C., Morris, R. R., & Nock, M. K. (2019). Randomized controlled trial of an online machine learning-driven risk assessment and intervention platform for increasing the use of crisis services. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 87(4), 370-379.
- Johnson, M. W., & Bickel, W. K. (2002). Within-subject comparison of real and hypothetical money rewards in delay discounting. *Journal of the experimental analysis of behavior*, 77(2), 129-146.

Joiner, T. (2007). Why people die by suicide. Harvard University Press.

Joiner, T. E. (2010). Myths about suicide. Harvard University Press.

- Joiner, T. E., Hom, M. A., Hagan, C. R., & Silva, C. (2016). Suicide as a derangement of the self-sacrificial aspect of eusociality. *Psychological Review*, *123*(3), 235-254.
- Joiner, T. E., & Stanley, I. H. (2016). Can the phenomenology of a suicidal crisis be usefully understood as a suite of antipredator defensive reactions? Psychiatry, 79(2), 107-119.
- Jollant, F., Bellivier, F., Leboyer, M., Astruc, B., Torres, S., Verdier, R., ... & Courtet, P. (2005). Impaired decision making in suicide attempters. American Journal of Psychiatry, 162(2), 304-310.
- Jollant, F., Lawrence, N. L., Olié, E., Guillaume, S., & Courtet, P. (2011). The suicidal mind and brain: a review of neuropsychological and neuroimaging studies. The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry, 12(5), 319-339.
- Jollant, F., Lawrence, N. S., Olie, E., O'Daly, O., Malafosse, A., Courtet, P., & Phillips,
  M. L. (2010). Decreased activation of lateral orbitofrontal cortex during risky
  choices under uncertainty is associated with disadvantageous decision-making
  and suicidal behavior. *Neuroimage*, *51*(3), 1275-1281.
- Kagel, J. H., Battalio, L., Battalio, R. C., & Green, L. (1995). *Economic choice theory: An experimental analysis of animal behavior*. Cambridge University Press.

Kahneman, D. (2011). Thinking, fast and slow. Macmillan.

Kahneman, D., & Tversky, A. (1972). Subjective probability: A judgment of representativeness. In The concept of probability in psychological experiments (pp. 25-48). Springer, Dordrecht.

- Kahneman, D. & Tversky, A. (1979). Prospect theory: An analysis of decision under risk. *Econometrica*, 47, 263-291.
- Kallgren, C. A., Reno, R. R., & Cialdini, R. B. (2000). A focus theory of normative conduct: When norms do and do not affect behavior. *Personality and social psychology bulletin*, 26(8), 1002-1012.
- Kennedy, R., Clifford, S., Burleigh, T., Waggoner, P. D., Jewell, R., & Winter, N. J.
  (2020). The shape of and solutions to the MTurk quality crisis. *Political Science Research and Methods*, 8(4), 614-629.
- Keren, G., & Schul, Y. (2009). Two is not always better than one: A critical evaluation of two-system theories. *Perspectives on psychological science*, 4(6), 533-550.
- Kim, S. Y., De Vries, R. G., & Peteet, J. R. (2016). Euthanasia and assisted suicide of patients with psychiatric disorders in the Netherlands 2011 to 2014. *JAMA psychiatry*, 73(4), 362-368.
- King, C. A., Eisenberg, D., Zheng, K., Czyz, E., Kramer, A., Horwitz, A., & Chermack, S. (2015). Online suicide risk screening and intervention with college students: A pilot randomized controlled trial. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 83(3), 630-636.
- Kirby, K. N., & Maraković, N. N. (1996). Delay-discounting probabilistic rewards: Rates decrease as amounts increase. *Psychonomic bulletin & review*, 3(1), 100-104.
- Kirschbaum, C., Wolf, O. T., May, M., Wippich, W., & Hellhammer, D. H. (1996).
  Stress-and treatment-induced elevations of cortisol levels associated with impaired declarative memory in healthy adults. *Life sciences*, 58(17), 1475-1483.

- Klonsky, E. D., & May, A. (2010). Rethinking impulsivity in suicide. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 40(6), 612-619.
- Klonsky, E. D., & May, A. M. (2015). The three-step theory (3ST): A new theory of suicide rooted in the "ideation-to-action" framework. *International Journal of Cognitive Therapy*, 8(2), 114-129.
- Knoll, M. A. (2010). The role of behavioral economics and behavioral decision making in Americans' retirement savings decisions. Soc. Sec. Bull., 70, 1.
- Kolotylova, T., Koschke, M., Bär, K. J., Ebner-Priemer, U., Kleindienst, N., Bohus, M.,
  & Schmahl, C. (2010). Development of the" Mannheim Multicomponent Stress
  Test"(MMST). *Psychotherapie, Psychosomatik, Medizinische Psychologie*, 60(2),
  64-72.
- Kotov, R., Krueger, R. F., Watson, D., Achenbach, T. M., Althoff, R. R., Bagby, R. M.,
  ... & Eaton, N. R. (2017). The Hierarchical Taxonomy of Psychopathology
  (HiTOP): a dimensional alternative to traditional nosologies. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, *126*(4), 454-477.
- Kruglanski, A. W., & Gigerenzer, G. (2011). Intuitive and deliberative judgements are based on common principles. *Psychological Review*, 118, 97–109.
- Leenaars, A. A., Moksony, F., Lester, D., & Wenckstern, S. (2003). The impact of gun control (Bill C-51) on suicide in Canada. *Death Studies*, 27(2), 103-124.
- Lerner, J. S., & Keltner, D. (2000). Beyond valence: Toward a model of emotion-specific influences on judgement and choice. *Cognition & emotion*, *14*(4), 473-493.
- Levenson, M., & Neuringer, C. (1971). Problem-solving behavior in suicidal adolescents. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 37(3), 433-436.

- Lichters, M., Sarstedt, M., & Vogt, B. (2015). On the practical relevance of the attraction effect: A cautionary note and guidelines for context effect experiments. *AMS Review*, *5*(1-2), 1-19.
- Loeber, R. (1989). Values and attitudes towards delinquent behavior. Pittsburgh, PA: Pittsburgh Youth Study, Department of Psychiatry, University of Pittsburgh.
- Loewenstein, G. (2005). Hot-cold empathy gaps and medical decision making. *Health Psychology*, *24*(4S), S49.
- Loftin, C., McDowall, D., Wiersema, B., & Cottey, T. J. (1991). Effects of restrictive licensing of handguns on homicide and suicide in the District of Columbia. New England Journal of Medicine, 325(23), 1615-1620.
- Loftus, E. F., Miller, D. G., & Burns, H. J. (1978). Semantic integration of verbal information into a visual memory. *Journal of experimental psychology: Human learning and memory*, *4*(1), 19-31.
- Loftus, E. F., & Palmer, J. C. (1974). Reconstruction of automobile destruction: An example of the interaction between language and memory. *Journal of verbal learning and verbal behavior*, *13*(5), 585-589.
- Loftus, E. F., & Pickrell, J. E. (1995). The formation of false memories. *Psychiatric annals*, 25(12), 720-725.

Lubin, G., Werbeloff, N., Halperin, D., Shmushkevitch, M., Weiser, M., & Knobler, H.
Y. (2010). Decrease in suicide rates after a change of policy reducing access to firearms in adolescents: a naturalistic epidemiological study. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 40(5), 421-424.

- Luoma, J. B., Martin, C. E., & Pearson, J. L. (2002). Contact with mental health and primary care providers before suicide: a review of the evidence. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 159(6), 909-916.
- Mabry, T. R., Gold, P. E., & McCarty, R. (1995). Age-related changes in plasma catecholamine responses to acute swim stress. Neurobiology of learning and memory, 63(3), 260-268.
- MacInnis, C. C., Boss, H. C., & Bourdage, J. S. (2020). More evidence of participant misrepresentation on Mturk and investigating who misrepresents. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 152, 109603.
- Magaard, J. L., Seeralan, T., Schulz, H., & Brütt, A. L. (2017). Factors associated with help-seeking behaviour among individuals with major depression: A systematic review. *PloS one*, *12*(5), e0176730.
- Marroquín, B., Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Miranda, R. (2013). Escaping the future: Affective forecasting in escapist fantasy and attempted suicide. *Journal of Social* and Clinical Psychology, 32(4), 446-463.
- Mathias, C. W., Dougherty, D. M., James, L. M., Richard, D. M., Dawes, M. A., Acheson, A., & Hill-Kapturczak, N. (2011). Intolerance to delayed reward in girls with multiple suicide attempts. Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior, 41(3), 277-286.
- Mazur, J. E. (2000). Tradeoffs among delay, rate, and amount of reinforcement. *Behavioural Processes*, *49*(1), 1-10.

- McClure, S. M., Laibson, D. I., Loewenstein, G., & Cohen, J. D. (2004). Separate neural systems value immediate and delayed monetary rewards. *Science*, 306(5695), 503-507.
- McKean, A. J., Pabbati, C. P., Geske, J. R., & Bostwick, J. M. (2018). Rethinking lethality in youth suicide attempts: first suicide attempt outcomes in youth ages 10 to 24. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *57*(10), 786-791.
- Mellers, B. A., & McGraw, A. P. (2001). Anticipated emotions as guides to choice. *Current directions in psychological science*, *10*(6), 210-214.
- Milkman, K. L., Beshears, J., Choi, J. J., Laibson, D., & Madrian, B. C. (2011). Using implementation intentions prompts to enhance influenza vaccination rates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(26), 10415-10420.

Mill, J. S. (1863). Utilitarianism. London: Parker, Son and Bourn.

- Millner, A. J., den Ouden, H. E., Gershman, S. J., Glenn, C. R., Kearns, J. C., Bornstein, A. M., ... & Nock, M. K. (2019). Suicidal thoughts and behaviors are associated with an increased decision-making bias for active responses to escape aversive states. *Journal of abnormal psychology*, *128*(2), 106-118.
- Millner, A. J., Lee, M. D., & Nock, M. K. (2017). Describing and measuring the pathway to suicide attempts: A preliminary study. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 47(3), 353-369.
- Mischel, W. (1973). Toward a cognitive social learning reconceptualization of personality. *Psychological review*, 80(4), 252-283.

- Moeller, F. G., Barratt, E. S., Dougherty, D. M., Schmitz, J. M., & Swann, A. C. (2001).
  Psychiatric aspects of impulsivity. American journal of psychiatry, 158(11), 1783-1793.
- Moss, A., & Litman, L. (2018). After the bot scare: Understanding what's been happening with data collection on MTurk and how to stop it. *Retrieved February*, *4*, 2019. Preprint.
- Moss, A. J., Rosenzweig, C., Jaffe, S. N., Gautam, R., Robinson, J., & Litman, L. (2021).Bots or inattentive humans? Identifying sources of low-quality data in online platforms. Preprint
- Morgan III, C. A., Hazlett, G., Doran, A., Garrett, S., Hoyt, G., Thomas, P., ... & Southwick, S. M. (2004). Accuracy of eyewitness memory for persons encountered during exposure to highly intense stress. *International journal of law and psychiatry*, 27(3), 265-279.
- National Center for Health Statistics. (2017). Health, United States, 2016, with chartbook on long-term trends in health (No. 2017). Government Printing Office.
- Neisser, U., & Harsch, N. (1992). Phantom flashbulbs: False recollections of hearing the news about Challenger. In E. Winograd & U. Neisser (Eds.), *Emory symposia in cognition, 4. Affect and accuracy in recall: Studies of "flashbulb" memories* (pp. 9-31). Cambridge University Press.
- Neuringer, C. (1964). Rigid thinking in suicidal individuals. *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, 28(1), 54-58.
- Nichter, B., Hill, M., Norman, S., Haller, M., & Pietrzak, R. H. (2020). Mental health treatment utilization among US military veterans with suicidal ideation: results

from the National Health and Resilience in Veterans Study. *Journal of psychiatric research*, *130*, 61-67.

- Nock, M. K., Hwang, I., Sampson, N. A., & Kessler, R. C. (2010). Mental disorders, comorbidity and suicidal behavior: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Molecular psychiatry*, 15(8), 868-876.
- Nock, M. K., Stein, M. B., Heeringa, S. G., Ursano, R. J., Colpe, L. J., Fullerton, C. S., ... & Zaslavsky, A. M. (2014). Prevalence and correlates of suicidal behavior among soldiers: results from the Army Study to Assess Risk and Resilience in Servicemembers (Army STARRS). *JAMA psychiatry*, *71*(5), 514-522.
- Nordentoft, M., Qin, P., Helweg-Larsen, K., & Juel, K. (2006). Time-trends in methodspecific suicide rates compared with the availability of specific compounds. The Danish experience. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 60(2), 97-106.
- O'Connor, R. C. (2011). Towards an integrated motivational–volitional model of suicidal behaviour. *International handbook of suicide prevention: Research, policy and practice*, *1*, 181-98.
- Oppenheimer, D. M., Meyvis, T., & Davidenko, N. (2009). Instructional manipulation checks: Detecting satisficing to increase statistical power. Journal of experimental social psychology, 45(4), 867-872.
- Osman, M. (2004). An evaluation of dual-process theories of reasoning. Psychonomic bulletin & review, 11(6), 988-1010.
- Owens, D., Horrocks, J., & House, A. (2002). Fatal and non-fatal repetition of self-harm: systematic review. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *181*(3), 193-199.

- Patsiokas, A. T., Clum, G. A., & Luscomb, R. L. (1979). Cognitive characteristics of suicide attempters. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 47(3), 478.
- Pereira, J. (2011). Legalizing euthanasia or assisted suicide: the illusion of safeguards and controls. *Current Oncology*, *18*(2), e38.
- Perkins, H. W. (2002). Social norms and the prevention of alcohol misuse in collegiate contexts. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol, supplement*, (14), 164-172.
- Perrah, M., & Wichman, H. (1987). Cognitive in suicide attempters. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, *17*(3), 251-255.
- Peters, E., Västfjäll, D., Gärling, T., & Slovic, P. (2006). Affect and decision making: A "hot" topic. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, *19*(2), 79-85.
- Peterson, L. G., Peterson, M., O'Shanick, G. J., & Swann, A. (1985). Self-inflicted gunshot wounds: lethality of method versus intent. *The American journal of psychiatry*.
- Preston, S. D., Buchanan, T. W., Stansfield, R. B., & Bechara, A. (2007). Effects of anticipatory stress on decision making in a gambling task. *Behavioral neuroscience*, 121(2), 257.
- Prinstein, M. J. (2008). Introduction to the special section on suicide and nonsuicidal selfinjury: A review of unique challenges and important directions for self-injury science. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, *76*(1), 1-8.
- Pronin, E., Lin, D. Y., & Ross, L. (2002). The bias blind spot: Perceptions of bias in self versus others. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 28(3), 369-381.
- Rabinak, C. A., MacNamara, A., Kennedy, A. E., Angstadt, M., Stein, M. B., Liberzon,I., & Phan, K. L. (2014). Focal and aberrant prefrontal engagement during

emotion regulation in veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Depression and anxiety*, *31*(10), 851-861.

Regional Euthanasia Review Committees, The Hague, the Netherlands. Annual report 2014.

https://www.euthanasiecommissie.nl/Images/Jaarverslag%202014%20RTE\_tcm5 2-44502.pdf. Published 2015. Accessed October 30, 2015.

- Reid, A. E., & Aiken, L. S. (2013). Correcting injunctive norm misperceptions motivates behavior change: a randomized controlled sun protection intervention. *Health Psychology*, 32(5), 551.
- Reisch, L. A., & Sunstein, C. R. (2016). Do Europeans like nudges?. Judgment and Decision making, 11(4), 310-325.
- Reger, M.A., Smolenski, D.J., Skopp, N.A., Metzger-Abamukang, B.S., Kang, H.K.,
  Bullman, T.A., Perdue, S., Gahm, G.A. (2015). Risk of Suicide Among US
  Military Service Members Following Operation Enduring Freedom or Operation
  Iraqi Freedom Deployment and Separation From the US Military. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 72(6), 561-569.
- Richard-Devantoy, S., Berlim, M. T., & Jollant, F. (2014). A meta-analysis of neuropsychological markers of vulnerability to suicidal behavior in mood disorders. *Psychological medicine*, 44(8), 1663-1673.
- Ross, J., Irani, L., Silberman, M. S., Zaldivar, A., & Tomlinson, B. (2010). Who are the crowdworkers? Shifting demographics in Mechanical Turk. In *CHI'10 extended abstracts on Human factors in computing systems* (pp. 2863-2872).

- Rudd, M. D. (2006). Fluid Vulnerability Theory: A Cognitive Approach to Understanding the Process of Acute and Chronic Suicide Risk.
- Runeson, B., Haglund, A., Lichtenstein, P., & Tidemalm, D. (2016). Suicide risk after nonfatal self-harm: a national cohort study, 2000-2008. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry*, 77(2), 240-246.
- Safer, M. A., Bonanno, G. A., & Field, N. P. (2001). " It was never that bad": Biased recall of grief and long-term adjustment to the death of a spouse. *Memory*, 9(3), 195-203.
- Saffer, B. Y., & Klonsky, E. D. (2018). Do neurocognitive abilities distinguish suicide attempters from suicide ideators? A systematic review of an emerging research area. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 25(1), e12227.
- Schomerus, G., Matschinger, H., & Angermeyer, M. C. (2009). The stigma of psychiatric treatment and help-seeking intentions for depression. *European archives of psychiatry and clinical neuroscience*, 259(5), 298-306.
- Schwarz, N. (2004). Metacognitive experiences in consumer judgment and decision making. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, *14*(4), 332-348.
- Seiden, R. H. (1978). Where are they now? A follow-up study of suicide attempters from the Golden Gate Bridge. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 8(4), 203-216.
- Semmler, C., Brewer, N., & Wells, G. L. (2004). Effects of postidentification feedback on eyewitness identification and nonidentification confidence. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(2), 334.
- Shapiro, D. (1994). Smoking tobacco: irrationality, addiction, and paternalism. *Public Affairs Quarterly*, 8(2), 187-203.

Sharot, T. (2011). The optimism bias. Current biology, 21(23), R941-R945.

- Shepard, D. S., Gurewich, D., Lwin, A. K., Reed Jr, G. A., & Silverman, M. M. (2016).
   Suicide and suicidal attempts in the United States: costs and policy implications.
   Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior, 46(3), 352-362.
- Shneidman, E. S. (1993). Suicide as psychache: A clinical approach to self-destructive behavior. Jason Aronson.
- Simon, H. A. (1955). A behavioral model of rational choice. *The quarterly journal of economics*, 69(1), 99-118.
- Simon, H. A. (1986). Rationality in psychology and economics. *Journal of Business*, S209-S224.
- Simon, T. R., Swann, A. C., Powell, K. E., Potter, L. B., Kresnow, M. J., & O'Carroll, P.
   W. (2001). Characteristics of impulsive suicide attempts and attempters. *Suicide* and Life-Threatening Behavior, 32(Supplement to Issue 1), 49-59.
- Slovic, P., Finucane, M., Peters, E., & MacGregor, D. G. (2002). Rational actors or rational fools: Implications of the affect heuristic for behavioral economics. *The Journal of Socio-Economics*, 31(4), 329-342.
- Slovic, P., Finucane, M. L., Peters, E., & MacGregor, D. G. (2007). The affect heuristic. *European journal of operational research*, *177*(3), 1333-1352.
- Stanley, I.H. (2019, April). A randomized clinical trial of lethal means safety counseling for young adults at risk for suicide with firearm familiarity. Symposium presented at the annual meeting of the American Association for Suicidology, Denver, CO.
- Stanley, B., & Brown, G. K. (2012). Safety planning intervention: a brief intervention to mitigate suicide risk. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, 19(2), 256-264.

- Stanley, I. H., Rufino, K. A., Rogers, M. L., Ellis, T. E., & Joiner, T. E. (2016). Acute Suicidal Affective Disturbance (ASAD): A confirmatory factor analysis with 1442 psychiatric inpatients. *Journal of psychiatric research*, 80, 97-104.
- Stanovich, K. E., & West, R. F. (2000). Individual differences in reasoning: Implications for the rationality debate?. *Behavioral and brain sciences*, 23(5), 645-665.
- Stanovich, K. E., West, R. F., & Toplak, M. E. (2013). Myside bias, rational thinking, and intelligence. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 22(4), 259-264.
- Stine, R. A. (1995). Graphical interpretation of variance inflation factors. *The American Statistician*, 49(1), 53-56.
- Sunstein, C. R. (2014). *Why nudge?: The politics of libertarian paternalism*. Yale University Press.
- Sunstein, C. R. (2018). Misconceptions about nudges. *Journal of Behavioral Economics* for Policy, 1(1), 61-67.
- Szanto, K. (2017). Cognitive deficits: underappreciated contributors to suicide. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 25(6), 630-632.
- Szanto, K., de Bruin, W. B., Parker, A. M., Hallquist, M. N., Vanyukov, P. M., & Dombrovski, A. Y. (2015). Decision-making competence and attempted suicide. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry*, 76(12), e1590.
- Thaler, R. (1981). Some empirical evidence on dynamic inconsistency. *Economics letters*, 8(3), 201-207.
- Thaler, R. H. (2018). From cashews to nudges: the evolution of behavioral economics. *American Economic Review*, *108*(6), 1265-87.

- Thaler, R.H. & Sunstein, C.R. (2008). Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness. Springer.
- Thomas, K. A., & Clifford, S. (2017). Validity and mechanical turk: An assessment of exclusion methods and interactive experiments. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 77, 184-197.
- Thompson, J. M. T. (1975). Experiments in catastrophe. *Nature*, 254(5499), 392-395.
- Tidemalm, D., Långström, N., Lichtenstein, P., & Runeson, B. (2008). Risk of suicide after suicide attempt according to coexisting psychiatric disorder: Swedish cohort study with long term follow-up. *Bmj*, *337*, a2205.
- Tucker, R. P., Michaels, M. S., Rogers, M. L., Wingate, L. R., & Joiner Jr, T. E. (2016).
   Construct validity of a proposed new diagnostic entity: Acute Suicidal Affective Disturbance (ASAD). *Journal of affective disorders*, 189, 365-378.
- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1974). Judgment under uncertainty: Heuristics and biases. *science*, 185(4157), 1124-1131.
- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1981). The framing of decisions and the psychology of choice. *science*, *211*(4481), 453-458.
- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1992). Advances in prospect theory: Cumulative representation of uncertainty. *Journal of Risk and uncertainty*, 5(4), 297-323.

Ursano, R.J., Kessler, R.C., Stein, M.B., Naifeah, J.A., Aliaga, P.A., Fullerton, C.S.,
Wynn, G.H., Vegella, P.L., Ng, T.H.H., Zhang, B.G., Wryter, C.L., Sampson,
N.A., Kao, T., Colpe, L.J., Schoebaum, M., McCarroll, J.E., Cox, K.L., &
Heeringa S.G. (2016). Risk Factors, Methods, and Timing of Suicide Attempts
Among US Army Soldiers. *JAMA Psychiatry*, *73*(7), 741-749.

- Van Orden, K. A., Witte, T. K., Cukrowicz, K. C., Braithwaite, S. R., Selby, E. A., & Joiner Jr, T. E. (2010). The interpersonal theory of suicide. *Psychological review*, 117(2), 575-600.
- Västfjäll, D., Slovic, P., Burns, W. J., Erlandsson, A., Koppel, L., Asutay, E., & Tinghög,G. (2016). The arithmetic of emotion: Integration of incidental and integral affectin judgments and decisions. *Frontiers in psychology*, *7*, 325.
- Västfjäll, D., Slovic, P., Mayorga, M., & Peters, E. (2014). Compassion fade: Affect and charity are greatest for a single child in need. *PloS one*, *9*(6).
- Vijayakumar, L., Kumar, M. S., & Vijayakumar, V. (2011). Substance use and suicide. *Current opinion in psychiatry*, 24(3), 197-202.
- Walsh, C. G., Ribeiro, J. D., & Franklin, J. C. (2017). Predicting risk of suicide attempts over time through machine learning. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 5(3), 457-469.
- Wegener, D. T., & Petty, R. E. (1997). The flexible correction model: The role of naive theories of bias in bias correction. In *Advances in experimental social psychology* (pp. 141-208). Academic Press.
- Weishaar, M. E., & Beck, A. T. (1992). Hopelessness and suicide. *International Review* of Psychiatry, 4(2), 177-184.
- Whitehead, M., Jones, R., Lilley, R., Pykett, J., & Howell, R. (2017). *Neuroliberalism: behavioural government in the twenty-first century*. Routledge.
- Williams, C. L., Davidson, J. A., & Montgomery, I. (1980). Impulsive suicidal behavior. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 36(1), 90-94.

- Williams, J. M. G., Crane, C., Barnhofer, T., & Duggan, D. (2005). Psychology and suicidal behaviour: elaborating the entrapment model. *Prevention and treatment* of suicidal behaviour: From science to practice, 1, 71-89.
- Wilson, K., Durantini, M. R., Albarracín, J., Crause, C., & Albarracín, D. (2013). Reducing cultural and psychological barriers to Latino enrollment in HIVprevention counseling: Initial data on an enrollment meta-intervention. *AIDS care*, 25(7), 881-887.
- Wilson, T. D., & Gilbert, D. T. (2005). Affective forecasting: Knowing what to want. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 14(3), 131-134.
- Wilson, T. D., & Gilbert, D. T. (2008). Explaining away: A model of affective adaptation. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 3(5), 370-386.
- Wilson, T. D., Wheatley, T., Meyers, J. M., Gilbert, D. T., & Axsom, D. (2000). Focalism: A source of durability bias in affective forecasting. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 78(5), 821-836.
- Wixted, J. T., Mickes, L., Clark, S. E., Gronlund, S. D., & Roediger III, H. L. (2015).
   Initial eyewitness confidence reliably predicts eyewitness identification accuracy.
   *American Psychologist*, 70(6), 515-526.
- Wixted, J. T., Read, J. D., & Lindsay, D. S. (2016). The effect of retention interval on the eyewitness identification confidence–accuracy relationship. *Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition*, 5(2), 192-203.
- Wong, P. W., Cheung, D. Y., Conner, K. R., Conwell, Y., & Yip, P. S. (2010). Gambling and completed suicide in Hong Kong: A review of coroner court files. *Primary care companion to the Journal of clinical psychiatry*, 12(6).

- World Health Organization (WHO) (2018). WHO Mortality Database. Retrieved from http://apps.who.int/healthinfo/statistics/mortality/whodpms/
- Yaseen, Z. S., Gilmer, E., Modi, J., Cohen, L. J., & Galynker, I. I. (2012). Emergency room validation of the revised suicide trigger scale (STS-3): a measure of a hypothesized suicide trigger state. *PloS one*, 7(9), e45157.
- Yaseen, Z. S., Hawes, M., Barzilay, S., & Galynker, I. (2018). Predictive validity of proposed diagnostic criteria for the suicide crisis syndrome: an acute presuicidal state. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*.
- Yentes, R.D., & Wilhelm, F. (2018) careless: Procedures for computing indices of careless responding. R packages version 1.2.0 https://github.com/ryentes/careless

Zeeman, E. C. (1976). Catastrophe theory. Scientific American, 65-83.